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Directors’ Report (2023)

The year 2023 has been remarkable for Air Arabia, as we achieved significant milestones in terms
of growth, revenue, and profitability. Our passenger numbers have consistently met our targets,
and we have grown our fleet to 73 Airbus A320 family aircraft, and successfully added 26 new
destinations across the group’s global network served from our operational hubs.

Overall, Air Arabia Group has achieved record-breaking financial and operational results, with
revenue touching AED 6 billion and net profit exceeding AED 1.54 billion.

Despite the strong performance in 2023, the aviation industry continues to face geopolitical and
economic challenges. The sector has experienced supply chain challenges, a shortage of technical
labor, scarcity of spare parts, delays in specialized maintenance, and even unavailability of
aircraft. Additionally, the fourth quarter witnessed a softening in yields, driven by these factors.
However, thanks to Air Arabia's unique business model and operational excellence, the record
results we have achieved stand as a testament to our product offering, commitment to cost
control, and the strength of our management team. We take great pride in this accomplishment,
which would not have been possible without the dedication of our entire Air Arabia family, from
the board of directors to all employees.

Air Arabia Group remains committed to conducting business in a sustainable manner. We follow
a holistic approach to sustainability across all our operations, emphasizing the importance of
understanding, anticipating, and effectively managing environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) matters. ESG considerations play a crucial role in how we conduct our business, from our
corporate governance systems at every level of the organization to our risk management
strategies and customer service approach. We are also dedicated to supporting local
communities. Sustainability and efficiency are deeply embedded in our airline's culture and
management. We believe that our ESG approach is practiced throughout the organization,
exemplified by our efficient operations and investment in environmentally friendly practices. As
Air Arabia, we leverage our business expertise and presence to drive an inclusive recovery,
expand our reach, and accelerate sustainability.

As we look ahead, we remain optimistic about the outlook of the low-cost air travel sector and
our ability to maintain growth momentum while further expanding our reach and operations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Air Arabia P]SC (the “Company™), and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023, and its consolidated financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Andit of the Consolidated
Financial Statenremts” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International
Eithics Standards Board for Acconntants International Code of Etbics for Professional Acconntants (ineliding Interuational
Independence Standards) (‘TESBA code”) together with other ethical requirements that our televant to our audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the requiternents of the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

© 2024 Grant Tharntan UAE - All rights reserved. Grant Thornton UAE represents oll legal lizenses undar which Grant Thornten Audit and Accountin R S —
Limited Corporation, A British Virgin 1slands {"BV1"} registered Branch, operate in the UAE, Thase licenses Include the Abu Dhabl, Dubal and Sh .m.ﬁ

based branches = Grant Thernten Aud [t and Accounting Lim ited — registered with the Abu Dhabi Giobal Market — Grant Thernten Audit ond Accaunting

Limited Corporation BVl = reglsterad with the Dubal Financial Services Authority.

“Grant Tharnton® refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services te thair ellents
and/ar refers to one er more mamber firms, #8 the context requires. GTIL and the mamber firms are not @ worldwide partnecihip. GTIL and each
member firm is 3 separate legal entity. Services are delivared by the mamber firms. GTIL dors not provide services to clients, GTIL and ts member
firmg are not agents of, and do not oblizate, one another and are not liabla for ane ancthar's acts ar amisslans,
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matiers

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023, These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

How our audit addressed the key audft
Key audit marter matter

i) Measurement of aircraft assets

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial We have performed the following audit
statements, the Group holds, as at December 31,2023, procedures:

alreraft assets with a net carrying value of AED 4,137

million. As explained in Note 4, the Group's ® We have assessed management’s basis of

accounting policy is to measure its aitcraft assets at cstimating the residual values and
depreciated historical eost less impairment, if any. depreciation rates of aircraft assets and
These aircraft assets are depreciated on a straight-line tested these to supporting information for
basis over their estimated useful life, to an estimated reasonableness, such as any publicly or
residual value at the end of its useful economic life. other available information on estimated

The estimation of residual value is a key management residual values and compared the
judgment in the application of the Group's accounting depreciation rates to the rates applied by
policy on depreciation and, therefore, any changes to other airline companies;

resicdual value will directly impact the depreciation
charge for the current and future years. Management
also needs to consider if there are any impairment
indicators such as the deterioration in ecurrent or
forecast trade activity, the incurrence of losses orother &  We have assessed the adequacy of the
factors indicating that the assets may be impaired. Group's disclosure in these respects.

®  We have assessed whether there are any
impairment indicators in respect of the
aireraft assets; and

If there are impairment indicators, management needs
to perform an impairment test and write down the
value of assets where the recoverable amount is lower
than the carrying value,

ii) Revenue recogniton

The Group recognises revenue from various sources, We have petformed the following audit
notably sale of passenger airline seats, cargo, bagpape procedures:

capacity and other ancillary services. Passenger tickets
sold can be of different types depending on the
conditions of sale and type of fare purchased. Revenue
from passenger and eargo is deferred and elassified as 2
liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position until the passenger or freight is lifted (e
service provided), at which time revenue is recognised

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This
recognition principle requires the Group to develop
assumptions to determine when to recognise revenue
in respect of un-availed services relating to tickets not
lifted at the anticipated date of travel.

We have evaluated the Group’s contral
environment and the application controls
reladng to the underlying systems
associated with the revenue streams, In
particular, we have considered whether the
Group's controls relating to revenue are
properly designed and implemented to
ensure that those systems were accurately
capturing the relevant data such as date of
sale, date of the provision of the service to
the customers and the sale amount;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audir of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (contnued)

Kev audit matter

How our audlt addressed the key audit
matter

ii) Revenue recognition (continued)

The accounting for passenger revenue is suseeptible to
management overrdde of controls through the
recording of manual journal entries in the accounting
records, the override of IT systems to accelerate
revenué recognition, or manipulation of inputs used to
calculate revenue recorded in respect of unused
revenue documents.

We have checked the reasonableness of the
Group'’s aceounting policy with respeet to
recognition of revenue in the perod in
which the services were provided to the
customers;

We  have reviewed —management’s
judgement and assumptions undetlying the
estimates of when to recognise revenue in
respect of services;

We have checked the reasonableness of the
Group’s accounting policy with respect to
recopnition of revenue for expired tickets;

For passenger revenue, we have performed
analytical procedures by comparing the
passenger revenue for 2023 with the
passenger tevenue for 2022, and
understood the reasons for the varance

taking into consideration key performance
indicators for 2023 and 2022;

For cargo revenue, we have tested the
tevenue per ton carried for 2022 and
developed an expectation for 2023 based
on the tonnage carried, and compared the
results with the cargo revenue recognised
and understood the reasons for the
vatiance;

We have also performed other substantive
audit procedures to coiroborate our
findings in respect of the audit tests above;

We have assessed the adequacy of the
Group’s disclosure on revenue recognition
in the consolidated financial statements.




) Grant Thornton

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Marters (continued)

Key audit matier

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

iii) Accounting for fuel hedge positions

The Group is significantly exposed to fluctuations in
the price of jet fuel and manages this risk through
derivative instruments to hedge its cash Hows. The
Group accounts for these hedge instruments in
accordance with IFRS 9 which requires, amongst other
things, that the Group establish a risk management
framework that outlines a policy for the Group to
conclude whether its hedging positions are effective or
ineffective, at the date of their inception and at each
reporting date. The Group has established controls
around taking hedge positions and its risk management
framework and Pnﬁcica,

The effectve portion of changes in the fair value of
the hedge instruments are recognised in the
consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income until the forecasted transaction occurs, whilst
any ineffective portion is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Judgment is
exercised in arriving at this conclusion. As of
December 31, 2023, the total fair value of the Group's
cash flow hedge instruments, obtained from
counterparties, is a net asset of AED 60 million as
disclosed in Note 22 to the consclidated financial
statements.

We have performed the following audit
procedures:

® We have evaluated the design and
implementation of the Group's controls
over taking hedge positions and application
of its policies. This included testing the
reasonableness of the Group's hedge
positions at the date of incepton and at
each reporting date, along with Group's
accounting for its hedge position;

® We have also involved our valuation
specialist for assessing the Group's hedge
accounting, and for testng hedge
effectiveness on sample basis; and

&  We have also assessed the adcqmcy of the
Group's disclosure in this respect.

iv) Valuation of aircraft maintenance obligations

Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
reflected maintenance liabilities of AED 1,729 million
as at December 31, 2023. The accounting for
maintenance obligations, including the end of lease
hand-back tequirements, is subject to management
assumptions. These assumptions include estimating
maintenance accrual for major inspections and
overhauls based on technical evaluation of the number
of hours flown by each engine, airframe checks at fixed
intervals and utilization cycles of landing gears, life
limited parts and auxiliary power units, It also includes
the cost of performing the required maintenance work
at that future return date of leased aircrafts.

We have performed the following audit
procedures:

s We have made enquiries of management to
establish if there were any new lease or
maintenance contracts entered during the
yeat;

® For the ongoing maintenance wotk under
flying hour agreements, we have confirmed
that the expenses were recognised at the
contractual flying hour rates and checked a
sample of the actual flying hours to the
Group’s operating system to confirm that the
expenses recognised were complete and
accurate;

® We have validated the cost drivers of major
types of maintenance accrual for
approptiateness and reasonableness;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
How our audit addressed the key audir
Key audit matter maiter
iv)  Valuation of aircraft maintenance obligations
(continued)
There is a fisk of maintenance and hand-back e Ve have verified the utilizaon of
obligations i.r'.nclude:d in lease agreements being maintenance accrual during the year for
accounted for inappropriately. routine and non-foutine expenses;
® We have validated the main reason for
change in the maintenance acerual balance
a5 at year end;
® We have cvaluated the design and
implementation of the Group’s controls
over the maintenance accrual made during
the year; and
¢ We have performed additional substantive
audit procedures to corroborate our
findings in respect of the audit tesis above,
Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our Auditor’s
Report thereon. We have obtained the Directors’ Report prior to the date of our Auditor’s Report, and we
expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our Auditor’s Report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other informaton and
accordingly, we do not express any form of assurance conelusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matetially
ineonsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obrained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materally misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we have obtained prior to the date of auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard,

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of
the UAE Federal Decree-Law No. 32 of 2021, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group of to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

6
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audir of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s teport
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the agpregace,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with I5As, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the oveiride of internal
contral;

®  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

® Evaluate the appropriatencss of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events ot
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s repott. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

® Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a mannet that achieves fair presentation; and

&  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consclidated financial statements, We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other marters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify duting our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safepuards.



Q GrantThornton

Independent Auditor’s Report
‘To the Shareholders of Air Arabia PJSC (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Aunditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with povernance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the cutrent year and are
therefore the key audit mattess. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of deing so would
reasonably be expected 1o ourweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, as required by the Federal Decree-Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that for the year ended
December 31, 2023:

i)

ii)

vi)

vii)

We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the putposes of
our audit;

The consolidated financial staterments have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the Federal Decree-Law No. 32 of 2021;

The Group has maintained proper books of account;

The financial information included in the Directors’ Report, in so far as it relates to these consolidated
financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group;

As disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has purchased new shares
during the year ended December 31, 2023;

Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements discloses related party transactions, and the terms
under which they were conducted;

Based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Group has contravened duting the financial year ended December 31,
2023 with any of the applicable provisions Federal Decree-Law No. 32 of 2021, or of the Company’s
Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or the Group’s financial position as
at December 31, 2023; and

vii) There have been no social contributions during the year.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at December 31, 2023

Notes 2023 2022

AED'000 ALIZ'000

ASSETS
Mon-current asscts
Property and equipment 5 4,954,113 5,402,630
Righr-of-use nssers [ 574,232 645,020
Advance for new aieeralt 7 886,886 585,135
Investment properties B 165,401 149,000
Net investinent in lease 14 52,993 91,484
Intangible assets 9 1,345,917 [,3318315
Deferred charges 10 19,293 24,628
Investments at faic value theough other comprehensive income I 230,332 43,166
Investments in associaes and jomr ventures 12 205,858 156,200
Trade and other receivables 14 85,847 369,637

8,520,872 5,805,215

Current nsscis

Inventorics 48,719 32,747
Trade and other receivablex 14 B58,576 862,850
Bank balances and eash 16 5,246,377 4,736,251
6,153,672 5,631,848
TOTAL ASSETS 14,674,544 14,437,063
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 17 4,666,700 4,660,700
Statutorn reserve 18 912,152 750,668
General reserve 19 351,150 189,666
Dither reserves 71,537 379,773
Retained earnings 1,632,467 1,008,308
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company 7,834,006 6995115
Non-controlling interest 1,084 520
Total equity 7,535,000 6,995,635
Non-current liabilities
Provizsion for smff rermination benefits 20 208,175 170015
Trade and other payables 21 1,249,607 1,407,366
Bank borrowings 24 30,610 30,604
lcase liabilities 23 1,567,827 2,126,498

3,056,219 3,734,483

Current liabilities

Deferred income 523,402 513,670
Trade and other pavables 21 2,879,313 2462169
Bank borrowings 24 95,084 108,881
Lense liabilities 23 585,436 622,225

4,083,235 3,700,945
Total liabilitics 7,139,454 7ak41,428
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 14,674,544 14,437,063

These consolidated financial statements were approt gl and authorised for issae by the Board of Directors on

nd signed ngljr Lehalf b
/‘(',14 /

Chairman - Chrr.'f Executive Officer ) Darrr.'mr of Finance

The accompanving nots from | 39 form an il'lh.,}rml paet of these consolidnted nnncial smements,
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended December 31, 2023

Revenue

Direct costs

GROSS PROFIT

Administrative and general expenses

Selling and marketing expenses

Finance income

Einance costs

Share of profit an investments in associates and joint ventures
Other income, net

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year attcibutable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

Notes

28

3

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
5,999,750 5,241,830

(4,343,184) (3,810,261)
1,656,566 1,431,569
(329,206) (2B6,467)

(88,793) (68,050)
209,994 88,867
(102,457) (115,457)
88,121 36,231
113,471 135,613
1,547,696 1,222 306

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
1,547,132 1,221,786

564 520
1,547,696 1,222 306
0.33 0.26

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31, 2023

Note
Profit for the yeat
Other comprehensive (loss)/income
tenus that will never be reclassified subsequently fo profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income 11

Tterus that are or may be reclassified smbsequently to profit ar loss:
Cash flow hedge
Effective porticn of changes in fair value

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive income for the year atiributable ro:
Owners of the Company
Naon-controlling interest

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
1,547,696 1,222,306

5,431 (5,236)
(313,667) 100,268
{308,236) 95,032
1,239,460 1,317,338

2023 2022
AED'"000 AED'000
1,238,896 1,316,818

564 520
1,239,460 1,317,338

The accompanying notes from 1 to 39 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31, 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year

Adpustraents to reconcile profit to net cash flows:

Depreeiation and amortzatdon

Unrealized gain on sale of investment property

Share of profit on investments in associates and joint ventures
Provision for seaff terminal benefits

Crain on derucugnitiun of Investment in joint venture

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables
Finanee income

Finanee costs

Operating cash flows before changes in working eapital

Chages in working capilal
Inventories
Ttade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Cash from operations
Staff terminal benefits paid
Met cash flows from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additonal investment in joint ventures

Acquisiton of properry and equipment

Additons to investment properties

Payments in reladon to advances for new airerafts-net

Increase in deferred charges

Dividends received from investments in associates
and joint ventures

Payments in relation to purehase of investments at
fair value through OCI

Acquisition of intangible assets

Change in fixed and margin deposits

Finance income received

Net cash flows used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid ta Owners of the Company
Payments of principle portion of lease liabilities
MNet movement on borrowings

Finanee costs paid

HNet eash flows used in financing activities

MNet change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and eash equivalents at the end of the year

Adistaents for:
Bank balances and cash
Fixed deposits with maturity over 3 months

Mates

569,10
8
12
20
25
28

20

17

23

16
16

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
1,547,132 1,221,786

647,327 633,957
- (43,030)
(88,121) (36,231)
44,056 33,737

- (9,839)

47,815 47,344
(209,994) (88,867)
102,457 115,457
2,090,672 1,874,314
(15,972) (9,243)
21,131 (94,867)
253,238 404,380

9,732 21,538

2,358,801 2,196,122

(5,896) (8,359)
2,352,905 2,187,763
{24,620) (25,312)
(76,284) (52,261)
(16,401) s
(301,751) (203,768)
(344) -
63,083 81,655
(181,735] (32,845)
(11,346) (9,428)
(298,005) (968,055)
153,935 36,663
(693,468) (1,173,351)
(700,005) (396,669)
(637,775) (740,042)
(13,791) 101,850
(95,745) (78,129)
(1,447,316) (1,112,990)
212,121 (98,578)
1,050,187 1,148,765
1,262,308 1,050,187
5,246,377 4,736,251
(3,984,069) (3,686,064)
1,262,308 1,050,187

The iccumpanying notes from 1 to 39 form an int:grsll part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended December 31, 2023

1 Legal status and principal activities

Air Arabia PJSC (the “Company”) was incorporated on June 19, 2007 as a Public Joint Stock Company.
The Company operates in the United Arab Emirates under a trade license issued by the Economic
Development Department of the Government of Shatjah and Air Operator’s Certificate Number AC 2
issued by the General Civil Aviation Authority, United Arab Emirates.

The Company’s ordinaty shares are listed on the Dubai Financial Matket, United Atrab Emirates. The
registered office address is P.O. Box 132, Shatjah, United Arab Emirates.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 include the consolidated
financial performance and position of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The licensed activities of the Group are international commercial ait transportation, aircraft trading, aircraft
rental, aircraft spare parts trading, travel and tourist agencies, commercial brokerage, hotels, hotel apartment
rentals, aitline companies’ representative office, passengers transpott, cargo services, air cargo agents,
documents transfer services, aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

The details of the Group’s ownership in its vatious subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and their
principal activities are as follows:

Beneficial Country of
ownership interest operation and
Name 2023 2022  Ownership Principal activities
Subsidiaries
International Business Company 100%  100% United Arab Dealing in International Business
(FZE) Emirates and shares
Air Arabia Holidays L.L.C 100%  100% United Arab Tour operations
Emirates
Information System Associates FZC 100%  100% United Arab IT services to aviation industry
Emirates
Action Hospitality 100%  100% United Arab Hospitality services, tourism,
Emirates managing and operating
restautants and hotels
COZMO Travel LLC — Sole 100%  100% United Arab Travel and tours, tourism and
proprietorship (formerly known as Emirates cargo services
COZMO Travel LLC) (a)
Impact Aviation Services Limited (b) 100%  100% Ireland Management of lease contracts

Subsidiaries of International Business Company (FZE) (sub-subsidiaries)

Olgana Real Estate 100%  100% United Arab Real Estate Development.
Development L.L.C (c) Emirates

T3 Aviation Academy LLC 100%  100%  United Arab Aviation training services,
(formerly known as Alpha Emirates

Aviaton Academy UAE L1C) (d)
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

1

Legal status and principal activities (continued)

Beneficial Country of
ownership interest operation and

Name 2023 2022 ownership Principal activities

Joint ventures
Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC 51% 51%  United Arab Flight and retail catering and ancillary

Emirates setvices to the Air Arabia PJSC.

Shatjah Aviation Services LLC 50% 50%  United Arab Alrcraft handling, passenger and

Emirates cargo services at the Sharjah
International Airport.

Cozmo Travel (CJSC) 75% 75%  Armenia Travels and touts, tourism and cargo

(“Cozmo Armenia”) (e) services.

Air Arabia Abu Dhabi L.L.C. 49% 49% United Arab International commercial air

Emirates transportation.

Air Arabia - Egypt Company 40% 40%  Egypt International commercial air
S.AE. transpottation.

Fly Jinnah Services (Private) 45% 45%  Pakistan International commetcial  air
Limited transpottation.

Armenian National Airlines 49% 49%  Armenia International commercial air

(CJSC) (“Fly Arna™) transportation.

Associates
Air Arabia Maroc, S.A. 44.13% 44.13% Morocco Intetnational  commercial  air

transportation.

Air Arabia Jordan LLC 49% 49%  Jordan International commercial  air

transportation.

Tune Protection Commetcial 51% 51%  United Arab  Commertcial brokers.
Brokerage LLC Emirates

2)

b)

d)

In 2022, the Group has changed the name of COZMO Travel LLC to be “COZMO Travel LLC —
Sole proprietorship™.

COZMO Travel LLC — Sole proprietorship controls subsidiaties in Qatar, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Kuwait, Bahrain, United Arab Emirates, India, Oman, Jordan and Egypt.

Impact Aviation Services Limited was incorporated on Aprl 19, 2022. However, it started the
operations on September 1, 2022.

In 2022, the Group incorporated a fully owned subsidiary named “Olgana Real Estate Development
L.L.C” through its wholly owned subsidiary, International Business Company (FZE), to manage and
develop the investment properties of the Group.

In 2022, the Group obtained full control over T3 Aviation Academy LLC (formerly known as Alpha
Aviation Academy UAE LLC - a former joint venture of the Group), as a result of acquiting the
remaining 49% shareholding of T3 Aviation Academy LLC (Note 25).

In 2022, the Gtoup entered into a joint venture agreement through its wholly owned subsidiaty,
COZMO Travel LLC — Sole proprietorship, with one of its joint ventures, Armenian National Airlines
(CJSC) (“Fly Atna”) to provide travels and tours, tourism and cargo services in Armenia under the
name of Cozmo Travel (CJSC) (“Cozmo Armenia”).

In 2022, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement, through its wholly owned subsidiary,
International Business Company (FZE) (“IBC”) with DAL Group, one of Sudan’s leading privately
owned conglomerates to operate low-cost catriers from Sudan, under the name of Air Arabia DAL Co.
LTD (“Air Atabia Sudan™). As at December 31, 2023, Air Arabia Sudan was incorporated, however
due to the political situation in Sudan, operations are on hold and related operating license is not yet
issued.

In 2022, the Group fully liquidated Arabian Management Investment FZE.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

1 Legal status and principal activities (continued)

Implementation of UAE Corporation Tax Law and application of IAS 12 Income Taxes

UAE On December 9, 2022, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Ministry of Finance ("MOF”) released
Federal Decree-Law Mo 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law
(“CT Law™) to enact a new CT regime in the UAE. The new CT regime has become effective for accounting
periods beginning on ot after June 1, 2023. As the Group’s accoundng year ends en December 31,
accordingly the effectve implementation date for the Group will start from January 1, 2024 to December
31, 2024, with the first return to be filed on or before Scpl;l:mbl:x 30, 2025, The CT Law confirms the rate
of 9% to be applied to taxable income exceeding a specified threshold.

As per the Group's assessment, there is no material deferred tax impact on account of the CT Law in the
Group consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, Furthermore, based on
the Group’s assessment, the expected effective tax rate that it will be subject to in the UAE is 9%. The
impact of any future changes in enacted law will be accounted for when such changes are subsuantively
enacted or enacted,

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and applicable requirements of UAE Federal Law by
Decree No. 32 of 2021 on Commercial Companies.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative
finaneial instruments and investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI), which are measured at their fair values,

{e) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Arab Emirates Ditham (“AED"), which is the
Group’s functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands (‘000) excepr, where noted
otherwise,

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations

31 New Standards adopted as at January 1, 2023

Aecounting pronouncements which have become effective from January 1, 2023 and have therefore been
adopted are as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4)
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS
12)
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2)
Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to LAS 8)

® International Tax Reform—DPillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12)

These amendments do not have a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements and
therefore the disclosures have not been made.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

3 New or revised Standards or Interpretations (continued)

3.2 Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not
yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

Other standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group
are as follows:

e  Classification of Liabilites as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1);
®  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16);

s Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7);

®  Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to 1AS 1); and

®  Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21).

These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the period of inital application and therefore the disclosures have not been made,

4 Material accounting policies

Overall considerations

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS
for each type of asset, liability, income and expense. The material accounting policies and measurement
bases are more fully described as follows:

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign cutrency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in foreign
curfency at period-end exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

MNon-monetary items are not re-translated at period-end and are measured at historieal eost (translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

Foreign operations

In the consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group’s entities with a
functional currency other than the AED (the Group’s presentation currency) are translated into AED upon
conselidation. The funetional curtency of the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the
teporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations have been translated into AED at the closing
rate prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expenses of foreign operations have been translted into
the Group's presentation currency at the average rate over the reporting period. The exchange differences
arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI).

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at December 31, 2023, Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to varlable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee,
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Specifically, the Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has:

a. power ovet the investee (l.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee);

b. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

c.  the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

a.  The contractual atrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
b.  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
¢. The Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessaty, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
of the assets transferred.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling intetests having a deficit balance.

The financial statements of the subsidiaties ate prepared for the same reporting year as of the Company.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiaty, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is tecognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of acquisition is measured
as the aggtegate of the consideration transferred, measuted at acquisition date fair value and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative and general
CXPCHSES.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financail assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pettinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embeded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquireee us remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Business combination and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset of liability will be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it should not be re-measured untill is finally settled within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9, is measured at fair value at each reporting date wuth
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of comptehensive income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and
the amount recognised for non-controlling intetests ovet the net identifiable assets aquited and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiaty acquited, the
difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
putpose of impairment testing, goodwill aquired in a business combination is, from the acquistion date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
itrespective of whether other assets ot liabilities of the acquireee ate assigned to those units.

Whete goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and patt of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the catrying amount of the
operation when determining the fain or loss on disposal of the operation. ‘goodwill disposed of in this
cirmustances is measured basedon the relative values of the operation disposed of and portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially recognised at cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the Group’s management.

Land granted by the Government of Sharjah and acquired through the acquisition of Radisson Blu Hotel
and Resott is not depreciated, as it is deemed to have an infinite life.

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment
losses.

The following estimated useful lives are applied:

Buildings 15 - 20 yeats
Aircrafts 15 years
Aircraft engines 20 years
Aircraft rotables and equipment 3 —10 years
Airport equipment 315 years
Other propetty and equipment including engine driven pumps (“EDP”) 3 -5 yeats

Depreciation is chatged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than capital work in progress and land,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to atise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of propetty and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the cartying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Property and equipment (continued)

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any recognised impairment logs. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended

use.
Government grants

Land granted by the government is recognised at nominal value where there is reasonable assurance that
the land will be received and the Group will comply with any attached conditions, where applicable.

Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group has recorded right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets under
property and equipment, net investment in lease representing the net present value of receivables from
intermediate lease, and the corresponding lease liabilities to make lease payments under other Liabilities.

The Group as a lessee
L Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assers at the commencement date of the lease (ie, the date the
undetlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, Unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised
right-of-use assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful Life and the
lease term as follows:

Aircrafts 9 years
Hanger 15 years

R.ight—ofrusc assets are also subject to impairment.

FiA Lease Iiabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over rhe lease term. In caleulating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying
asset and is recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing
rates range from 2.26 % to 5 % as applicable.

The Group as a lessor
£ Net investments in leases

Leases in which the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an asset to the lessees are classified as finance leases. A receivable is recognised at an amount equal to the
present value of the minimum lease payments under the lease agreement, including guaranteed residual
value and un-amortsed initial direct cost which are included in the consolidated financial statements as
“Net investments in leases” within trade and other receivables.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases and right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

1L Interest income on net investments in leases

The Group follows the finance lease method in accounting for recognition of finance lease. The total
uneatned interest income, i.e. the excess of aggregate instalment contract receivables plus residual value
over the cost of the leased asset is deferred and then amortised over the term of the lease, to produce a
systematic return on net investments in leases.

I The Group as an intermediate lessor

The Group acts as an intetmediate lessot in a transaction for which an undetlying asset is re-leased by the
Group (‘intermediate lessot”) to a third party, and the lease (‘head lease’) between the head lessor and Group
temains in effect.

The Group classifies the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease as follows:

e  If the head lease is a short-term lease that the entity, as a lessee, has accounted for by recognising the
lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, the sublease must be
classified as an operating lease;

e  Otherwise, the sublease must be classified by teference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, rather than by reference to the economic useful life of the undetlying asset (such as the item of
property and equipment that is the subject of the lease).

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount
includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incutred if the
recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.

Investment properties are derecognised when eithet they have been disposed of ot when the investment
ptopetty is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner occupied propetty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the
fair value at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up
to the date of change in use.

Properties under construction

Properties under construction are cartied at cost less any impairment in value. Costs are those expenses
incutred by the Group that ate directly attributable to the construction of asset.

The catrying values of properties under construction are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in citcumstances indicate the carrying value may not be tecoverable. If any such indication exists and whete
the cattying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquited in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
whete they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can be measured reliably. The
cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

The useful lives of intangible assets atising out of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, have been
estimated to be indefinite (Note 9).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands, is tecognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually, or mote frequently when
there is indication of impairment. For intangible assets with definite useful lives amortisation is calculated
to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The useful life used in the calculation of amottisation is 5 years.

Deferred charges

Deferred charges are amortised on the straight-line method over the estimated period of the benefits.

Inventories

Inventories ate stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises invoice price of materials.
Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to patticipate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control of joint control
over those policies.

A joint ventute is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties have joint control of the arrangement
have tights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the patties sharing control. The consideration made in determining significant influence or joint control
are similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaties.

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Gtroup’s share of net assets of
the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture
is included in the consolidated carrying amount of the investment and goodwill is neither amortised nor
individually tested for impairment. The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share
of the results of operations of the associates and joint ventures. Any change in other comprehensive income
of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income.

In addition, when thete has been a change recognised ditectly in the equity of the associate or joint ventute,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains/losses resulting from transaction between the Group and the associate or joint
venture ate eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and joint venture is shown on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss outside operating profit. The financial statements of the
associate or joint venture ate prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessaty,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impaitment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and then recognises
the loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control aver the joint venture, the Group
measures and recopnises any retained investment at its fair value, Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value
of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained; only a proportonate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate,

impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indicadon
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impaitment
loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the tecoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its careying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or eash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease,

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased earrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset {or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impaitment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instrumentis
Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI) or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

24



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at Inidal recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characreristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

In order for a Anancial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to genetute cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contactual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories:

*  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments);

e Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses
upon derecognition (cquity instraments); or

®  Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gzins and losses upon
derecognition (debt instruments).

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

® The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows, and

® The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and

are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost

includes trade and most other receivables, bank balances and cash and other non-current financial assets.

Financial assets designated at fair vaine through OCT (equity instraments)

Upon initial reeognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading, The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the consolidated statements of profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCL Equity instraments
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through OCT (debt insirnments)

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognized in OCL Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to
profit or loss.

The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI includes investments in unquoted debt instruments
included under ather “Inuesinrents at fair vafue throngh otber comprebensive incoms”
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (e, removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

& The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

&  The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash Aows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through’
arcangement, and either (a) the Gmup has transferred substandally all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantally all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has rewained the risks and rewards of
ownership.

When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the ansferred asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The wansferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

‘The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference berween the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original cffective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integeal to the contractual terms,

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for creclit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the nexr 12-months (a 12-month ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in caleulating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit tisk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifedme ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 60 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as payables and borrowings, as appropriate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (confinued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the ease of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs,

The Group’s financial liabilities include lease liabilities, trade and most other payables, and bank borrowings.
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
bortowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The effective interest method is the method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where approptiate, a shorter period to the net earrying amount
on initial recognition.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an uxisting financial liability is n:placl:d by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing hability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assers and settle the liabilities simultanesusly.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of the financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long posidons and
ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs,

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include:

®  Using recent arm’s length marker transactions;
L] Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is Substaﬂtially the same; or
* A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models,

Derivative financial instruments

The management has applied hedge accounting for its derivative financial instruments. The management
applies hedge accounting only if all of the following conditions are met:

®  Thete is formal designation and written documentation at the inception of the hedge;

&  The effectiveness of the hedging relationship can be measured reliably. This requires the fair value of
the hedging instrument, and the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item with respect to the risk
being hedged, to be reliably measurable;
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)

®  The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving fair value or cash flow offsets in accordance
with the original documented risk management strategy; and

®  The hedge is assessed and determined to be highly effective on an ongoing basis throughout the hedge
relationship. A hedge is highly effective if changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument, and
changes in the fair value or expected cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

At inception of the hedge, the management designate hedge either as a cash flow hedge or as a fair value
hedge. The designation is done at inception of the hedge. At inception of the hedge, the management
establishes formal documentation of the hedge relationship. The method an entity adopts depends on its
tisk management strategy and hedge accounting systems and practices. The method that will be used in
measuring hedge effectiveness is specified in the hedge documentation.

The hedge documentation prepared at inception includes a desctiption of the followings:

e  Risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;

®  The natute of the tisk being hedged;

¢  C(lear identification of the hedged item - the asset, liability, firm commitment or cash flows arising
from a forecast transaction - and the hedging instrument; and

®  How hedge effectiveness will be assessed both prospectively and retrospectively. The entity describes
the method and procedures in sufficient detail to establish a firm and consistent basis for measurement
in subsequent periods for the particular hedge.

A hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements if thete is an economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from the economic relationship and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantities of the hedged item that the entity actually hedge and the hedging
instrument uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Under a cash flow hedge model, the effective portion of the fair value changes of the hedging instrument
is recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income (OCI) and the ineffective portion
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In a fair value hedge, any ineffectiveness is automatically recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because changes in the measurement of both the hedging instrument and the
hedged item are reported through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income except if the
hedging instrument hedges an equity investment for which the management has elected to present changes
in fair value in OCI.

If a hedge no longet is effective, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively from the last date on
which the hedge was proven to be effective. Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the hedged item
or the hedging instrument is derecognised, the criteria are no longer met or upon voluntarily
discontinuation.

If the hedging instrument is a derivative, then the hedging instrument is measured at fair value, with the
effective portion of changes in its fair value recognised in OCI and presented within equity normally in a
hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If hedge accounting is not applied to a derivative instrument that is entered into as an economic hedge,
then derivative gains and losses are shown in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income.
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Provision for staff terminal benefits

Provision is made for the full amount of statutory gratuity due to employees for their period of service up
to the reporting date in accordance with the applicable labour laws, The gratuity provision is shown under
non-current liabilites in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
cantributions into a separate entdty and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts,

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided.
Prepaid contributions are recopnised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in furure

payments is available,

Contributions for eligible UAE National employees are made to the Pension Authority, in accordance with
the provisions of UAE labour Law No. (7) of 1999 relating to Pension and Social Security and its
amendments and charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which
they fall due.

Aircraft maintenance
For the aircraft owned by the Group, maintenance accruals are made based on the technical evaluation.

For the aircraft under operating lease agreements, wherein the Group has an obligation to maintin the
aircraft, accruals are made during the lease term for the obligation based on estimated future costs of major
airframe and certain engine maintenance checks by making appropriate charges to the consolidated
staterment of profit or loss calculated by reference to the number of hours or cycles operated and
engineering estimates,

Deferred income

Deferred income mainly represents unearned revenue from flight seats sold bur not yet flown and will be
released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when passengers are flown or time expired.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an
outflow of economic resources from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount
of the outflow may still be uneertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive
commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, lepal disputes or onerous contracts. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions ate measured at the estimated expenditure
required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting dare,
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value
of money is material,

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group’s revenue primarily derives from transportation services for both passengers and cargo, ticket
selling, accommodation income and dividend income. Revenue is recognized when the transportation,
tickets or accommodation are provided. The Group considers whether it is an agent or a principal in
relation to transportation services by considering whether it has a performance obligation to provide
services to the customer or whether the obligation is to arrange for the services to be provided by a third

party.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Rendering of services

Passenger tickets are generally paid for in advance of transportation and are recognised, net of discounts as
deferred revenue on ticket sales in current liabiliies untl the customer has flown. Unused tickets are
recognised as revenue after the contracted date of departure using estimates regarding the timing of
recognition based on the terms and conditions of the ticket and stadstical analysis of historical
tends. Other revenue including maintenance; handling; hotel and holiday and commissions is recognized
as the related performance obligatior: is satisfied over time using an approptiate methodology which reflects
the aetivity that has been undertaken to satisfy the related obligation.

Hotel revenue

Income from room hire is recognised on a pro-rata basis over the period of occupancy. Revenue from sale
of goods, food and beverages is recognised upon issuance of related sales invoices on delivery to guests and
customers.

Dividend income
Dividend from investments is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment has been established.
Finance income and finance costs

Finance income mainly comprises interest income on fixed deposits and investments. Interest income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest rate
method.

Finance costs mainly comprises interest expense on bank borrowings and lease liabilities. All borrowing
costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest
rate method. Hawever, borrowing costs that are direetly attributable to the acquisition or construetion of a
qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asser. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily
takes a substantal period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

ODperating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the
service or at the date of their origin.

Segmental reporting

Dpcmﬁng segiments ate reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers, who is responsible for resource allocation
and assessing performance of the operating segments, are the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer.

Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
puolicies

When prepating the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgment,
estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The actual results may differ from the judgment, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will
seldom equal the estimarted results.

Information abourt significant judgment, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided in the following pages:
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Control assessment

The Group reassesses whether ot not it conttols an investee, if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one ot more of the three elements of control listed in IFRS 10.

Management has teviewed its control assessments in accordance with IFRS 10 and has concluded that there
is no effect on the classification (as subsidiaries or otherwise) of any of the Group’s investees held during
the period covered by these consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment and at other
times when such indications exist. The impairment calculation requires the use of estimates.

The intangible assets include trade name, landing rights, price benefits from related parties and handling
license - Sharjah Aviation Services LLC.

The recoverability of these assets is based on the Group’s projected financial performance which are
underpinned by a number of assumptions. Such assumptions inherently involve significant judgments.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs
to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in arm’s length transactions of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in
use calculadon is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for
the next five yeats and do not include restructuting activities that the Group is not yet committed to or
significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s petformance of the CGU being tested. The
tecoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well
as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Alrcraft maintenance costs

The Gtoup incurs liabilities for maintenance costs in respect of its owned aircrafts and leased aircraft. A
chatge is made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss each month based on the number of flight
houts ot cycles used to build up an accrual to cover the cost of heavy-duty maintenance checks when they
occut. Estimates involved in calculating the provision required include the expected date of the check,
matket conditions for heavy-duty maintenance checks at the expected date of check, the condition of asset
at the time of the check, the likely utilisation of the asset in terms of either flying hours or cycles, and the
regulations in relation to extensions to lives of life-limited patts, which form a significant proportion of the
cost of heavy-duty maintenance costs of engines. Additional maintenance costs for aircraft engines are
considered for accrual based on the estimates made by engineering department on the basis of operational
requirements.

In case of operating lease aircraft, the Group is also required to pay maintenance reserves to lessors on a
monthly basis, based on usage. These maintenance reserves are then returned to the Group on production
of evidence that qualifying maintenance expenditute has been incurred. Maintenance reserves paid ate
deducted from the accruals made. In some instances, not all of the maintenance reserves paid can be
recovered by the Group and, therefore, are retained by the lessor at the end of the lease term.

Assumptions made in respect of the basis of the accruals are reviewed for all aircraft once a year. In addition,
when further information becomes available which could materially change an estimate made, such as a
heavy-duty maintenance check taking place, utilisation assumptions changing, or return conditions being
re-negotiated, then specific estimates ate teviewed immediately, and the accrual is reset accordingly.
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Accrual for aircraft flying costs

The management accrues for the landing, parking, ground handling, and other charges applicable for each
aitport in which the Group opetates flights on a monthly basis. These estimates are based on the rate of
charges applicable to each airpott based on the agreements and recent invoices received for the services
obtained. Similarly, accruals for overflying charges are estimated based on the agreement entered with each
countty. Actual charges may differ from the charges accrued and the differences are accounted for, on a
prospective basis.

Estimated useful life and residual value of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment (except land), right-of-use assets and
intangible assets based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use or the lease
term. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
reviewed petiodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.

Deferred charges

The period of amortisation of the deferred charges is determined based on the pattern in which the future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group.

Allowance for expected credit losses for trade recefvables and amounts due from related parties

The expected credit losses ate based on assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting petiod.

Determining lease terms

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exetcise a termination option.

Extension options (ot petiods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

The following factors ate normally the most relevant:

e  If thete are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain
to extend {or not extend).

e If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value the Group is
typically certain to extend (or not extend).

®  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations, costs and business
distuption required to replace the leased asset.

®  The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exetcised) or the Group becomes
obliged to exetcise {or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a
significant event ot a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and
that is within the control of the lessee.
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Significant management judgment, estimates and assumptions in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Determination of appropriate discount rate in measuring lease liabilities

The Group measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease contract. The lease payments were discounted using a reasonable rate
deemed by management equal to the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

In determining a reasonable discount rate, management considers the term of the leases, the undetlying
asset and the economic environment. - Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates
brought about by changes in such factors.

Recognition of revenue

Management considers recognizing revenue over time, if one of the following critetia is met, otherwise
revenue will be recognized at a point in time:

®  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

® the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced; or

® the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Current versus non-current classification

The Group ptesents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on
cutrent/non-current classification.

An asset is cuttent when it is:

Expected to be realised or intended to be sold ot consumed in the normal operating cycle;

Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

e Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

®  Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading;

e  TItis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

®  Thete is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after

the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-curtent.
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Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

5 Property and equipment (continued)

Buildings include hotel apartments, simulator and staff quarters. Simulator and staff quarters are
constructed on land in Shagjah, granted by the Government of Sharjah.

Property and equipment include one plot of land in Shatjah, granted by the Government of Shatjah
recognised at nominal value of AED 1,

As at December 31, 2023, work in progress represents various capital projects, mainly related to business
system, applications and building refurbishment, amounting to AED 16.7 million (2022: AED 14.8 million).
Capital commitments related to these projects are minimal.

All of the Group’s non-movable assets are located in the UAE, except for property and equipment with
earrying amount of AED 4.47 million (2022: AED 3.9 million), located outside UAE,

At Deecember 31, 2023, airerafts with earrying amount of AED 3.42 billien (2022: AED 4.09 billion) are
held under lease (Note 23).

The Group’s management conducted an internal assessment of its aireraft assets and considered if there
are any impairment indicators such as a deterioration in current or forecast trade activity, the incurrence of
losses or other factors indicating that the assets may be impaited. Based on their assessment, the Group’s
management is of the view that no indicators of impairment arose during 2023 (2022: AED Nil).

6 Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets represent Airerafts and Hangar obtained on lease (refer to Note 23 for lease liabilities
recognised in relation to the right-of-use assets). The carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are shown below:

Airerafrs Hangar Tatal

2023 AED '000 AED 000 AED '000
Gross earrying amount
As at January 1, 2023 897,726 16,650 914,376
Addidons 42,315 - 42,315
As at December 31, 2023 940,041 16,650 956,691
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2023 258,880 10,475 269,355
Charge for the year (Note 27) 112,270 834 113,104
As ar December 31, 2023 371,150 11,309 382,459
Met carrying amounts

at December 31, 2023 568,891 5,341 574,232

Airerafis Hangat Total

2022 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000
Gross earrying amount
As at January 1, 2022 784,199 16,650 800,849
Additions 113,526 - 113,526
As at December 31, 2022 897,725 16,650 914,375
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2022 166,817 0,642 176,459
Charge for the year (Note 27) 92,063 8§33 92,896
Asz at December 31, 2022 258,880 10,475 200,355
Net carrying amounts

at December 31, 2022 (638,845 6,175 645,020




Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

7 Advance for new aircraft

These represent pre-delivery payments made to suppliers for an amount of AED 886,8 million (2022: AED
585.1 million) in respect of new airerafts.

8 Investment properties

In 2022, a5 a result of a court verdict following series of court orders on recoverability claims against certain
outstanding receivables, the Group had completed the exchange of its investment property (“Pier 8”) which
tepresented certain units under construction in a building located in Dubai Marina, Dubai, UAE, with 2
cartying value of AED 1059 million as at January 1, 2022 with other investment properties under
consttuction located in Al Safouh First, Dubai, UAE (“Olgana™).

In 2022 and at date of exchange of these assets, the fair value of Olgana was AED 149 million based on
valnation made by independent valuator, hence, the Group recognized a gain of AED 43 million during
the year ended Deecember 31, 2022, as a result of this transaction. The Olgana is approximately 63%
complete as at December 31, 2023 (2022: 60%).

2023 2022

AED '000 AED '000

Balance as at January 1, 149,000 105,970
Addigons during the year 16,401 149,000
Derecognition during the year - (105,970}
165,401 149,000

Management estimates no impairment is required to be recognized on the basis of absence of any indicators
of impairment for the building as at December 31, 2023 (2022: AED Nil),

The fair valoe of Olgana is determined to be AED 197 million as at December 31, 2023 (2022: AED 149
million). This has been estimated by external using a market approach that reflects observed prices for
recent market transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the
property including total area size, location, conditions and percentage of completion. The significant input
used for valuation is sales price per square ft, which is observable from market for similar propertes,

9 Intangible assets
2023 2022
AED '000 AED'D00
Intangible assets * 1,147,395 1,139,793
Goodwil]l #* 198,522 198,522
1,345,917 1,338,315

During the year ended December 31, 2023, intangible assets and goodwill were subject to impairment tests
and management concluded that they are not impaired.

* The movement in the intangible assets during the year can be reconciled as follows:

2023 2022

AED '000 AED '000

As at January 1, 1,139,793 1,133,609
Additions during the year 11,346 9,428
Amortization during the year (3,7d44) (3,244)
As at December 31, 1,147,395 1,139,793
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9 Intangible assets (continued)
Certain intangible assets were atisen from the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007 pursuant to fair values
determined by an independent valuer and are summarised as follows:

2023 2022
AED '000 AED '000
Trade name 395,410 395,410
Landing rights 468,273 468,273
Price benefit from related parties 180,281 180,281
Handling license - Sharjah Aviation Services 48,383 48,383
1,092,347 1,092,347

**  Goodwill comprises of the following:
2023 2022
AED '000 AED '000
Goodwill on acquisition of Air Arabia LLC *** 189,474 189,474
Goodwill on step acquisition of Information Systems Associates FZC 9,048 9,048
As at December 31, 198,522 198,522

*xx Goodwill arising on of the acquisition of Air Arabia LLC in 2007, determined by an independent
valuer, was as follows:

AED '000

Total fair value of Air Arabia LLC 1,400,000
Fair value of intangible assets (1,092,347)
Fair value of tangible assets — net (118,179)
189,474

The Group, with support from an independent professional services firm, performed impairment tests on
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment test has been determined using value-
in-use calculations. For calculation putposes the Group’s management prepared cash flow projections for
5 years’ petiod and applied a discount rate of between 9.98% to 10.74% (2022: 10.52% to 11.54%).

Cash flow projections during the forecast period are based on the expected gross margins. The Group
believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit. Based on these calculations the Group is of the view that goodwill and intangible assets
are not impaired.

10 Deferred charges
Processing
Landing Aircraft fee and Buyer
permission upgrade commission - furnished
charges costs costs  equipment Total
2023 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Gross carrying amount
As at January 1, 2023 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
Additions during the year - - - 344 344
As at December 31, 2023 51,745 35,073 27,086 24,047 137,951
Accumulated amortisation
As at January 1, 2023 51,745 34,259 18,503 8,472 112,979
Charge for the year - 587 2,196 2,896 5,679
As at December 31, 2023 51,745 34,846 20,699 11,368 118,658
Net carrying amounts as at
December 31, 2023 - 227 6,387 12,679 19,293
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10 Deferred charges (continued)
Processing
Landing Aircraft fee and Buyer
permission upgrade commission  Furnished
charges costs costs Equipment Total
2022 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000  AED'000
Gross cartying amount
As at January 1, 2022 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
As at December 31, 2022 51,745 35,073 27,086 23,703 137,607
Accumulated amortization
As at January 1, 2022 51,745 33,120 16,201 5,576 106,642
Charge for the year - 1,140 2,302 2,895 6,337
As at December 31, 2022 51,745 34,260 18,503 8,471 112,979
Net catrying amounts as at
December 31, 2022 - 813 8,583 15,232 24,628
11 Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
2023 2022
AED 000 AED ‘000
Quoted investments in equity instruments in UAE * 9,216 10,321
Ungquoted investments in debt instruments in UAE 150,449 14,562
Unquoted investments in debt instruments outside UAE 70,667 18,283
Total investments 230,332 43,166

* Movement in quoted investments in equity instruments duting the year were as follow:

2023 2022

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

As at January 1, 10,321 15,557
Change in fair value (1,105) (5,236)
As at December 31, 9,216 10,321

The market rate as at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are considered for the calculation of the
fair value of the investments that ate quoted on the stock exchange market.

The movement in unquoted investments in debt insttuments during the year were as follows:

2023 2022

AED ‘000 AED ‘000

As at January 1, 32,845 -
Additions during the year 181,735 32,845
Change in fair value 6,536 -
As at December 31, 221,116 32,845

The fair values of these debt instruments are determined using market interest rates of similar debt
insttuments as at December 31, 2023.
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12 Investments in associates and joint ventures

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Investments in associates (Note 12.1) 99,609 51,751
Investments in joint ventures (Note 12.2) 106,249 104,449
205,858 156,200

12.1  Investments in associates

Investments in associates represent share in net assets of the associates at the reporting date, accounted for
using equity method. The movements during the year are summarised as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'0DD

As at January 1, 51,751 81,619

Share of profit of Tune Protection Commerdal Brokerage LLC 3,744 8,956

Share of profit of Air Arabia Maroc S.A. 68,197 5,098
Dividend received from Tune Protection Commercial

Brokerage LLC (15,030) (13,599)

Dividend received from Air Arabia Maroe S.A (9,053) (30,323)

As at December 31, 99,609 51,751

Investment in Air Arabia Jordan LLC is fully impaired in the previous years.
12.2 Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures represent share in net assets of the joint ventures at the reporting date as per
cqujty m:cnunrjng princip]ca and the movements during the year are sum matised below:

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 104,449 96,330
Additional investments during the year

Armenian MNational Airlines (C_]SC) 18,118 18,206

Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited 6,502 6,693

Cozmo Travel (C]SC) - 413
Share of profit/ (lass)

Sharjah Aviation Services 22,206 24,516

Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC 22,579 13,840

T3 Aviation Academy (formerly known as

Alpha Aviation Academy) - 175

Air Arabia Abu Dhabi LL.C 9,507 (1,280)

Cozmo Travel (C]S0) (148) 6B

Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited (9,477) (7,306)

Armenian National Aislines (CJSC) (28,487) (71,837)
Dividents received during the year

Alpha Flight Services UAE LLC (19,000) (19,000)

Sharjah Aviation Services (20,000) (15,000)

T3 Aviation Academy UAE LILC - (3,733)
Disposal of investment in joini ventnre

T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC {formetly known as

Alpha Aviation Academy UAE LLC) (Note 25) - (1,636)

As at December 31, 106,249 104,449
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For the year ended December 31, 2023

13 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements provide a description of each classificaton and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and the related accounting policies. The carrying
amounts of Anancial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows:

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables 888,698 216,172
Bank balances and cash 5,246,377 4,736,251
Cash flow hedpe assets (derivative) 59,673 373339
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 230,332 43,166
6,425,080 0,068,928
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 4,035,407 3,820,369
Bank borrowings 125,694 139,485
Lease liabilities 2,153,263 2,748,723
6,314,364 6,708,577

A descripdon of the Group's financial statements risk, including risk management objectives and policies
is given in Note 35 and methaods used to measure fair value are described in Note 36.

14 Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Finaneial assels:

Trade receivables, gross

Allowance for expected credit losses

Trade receivables, net

Cash flow hedge asset (Note 22)

Met investrment in lease *

Amounts due from related pardes (Note 15)
Advances and ather receivables, net

Non-financial assets:
Prepaid aircraft lease rentals
Prepaid expenses — others

Mon-current assets

Financial asset:

Cash flow hedge asset (Note 22)
Met investment in lease *

Lease deposit receivable

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'00D
348,316 402,256
(47,724) (48,592)
300,592 353,664
11,629 28,753
37,697 48,001
62,639 146,388
396,974 250,336
809,531 827,142
18,528 12,510
30,517 23,198
49,045 35,708
858,576 862 850
48,044 344,586
52,903 91,484
37,803 25,051
997,416 1,323,971
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14 Trade and other receivables (continued)

*  Net investment in lease represents the present value of the minimum lease payment receivables. The
Group subleased aircrafts to Air Arabia Maroc, S.A. (an associate), Fly Jinnah Services (Private) Limited
(a joint venture) and Armenian National Aitlines CJSC (a joint venture). The Group has classified the
subleases as finance lease beeause the subleases are for the whole of the remaining term of head lease.

The following table sets out the lease receivables related to the subleases:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Not later than one year 37,697 48,001
Later than one year but not later than five years 52,993 91,484
At December 31, 90,690 139,485

As at December 31, 2023, all of the Group's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators
of impairment. Certain trade receivables and other receivables amounting to AED 47.72 million and AED
102.8 million, respectively, were found to be impaired (2022: AED 48.59 million and AED 55 million),

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables can be reconciled as follows:

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 48,592 44,277
Reversal of expected eredit losses of trade receivables (Note 30) (868) -
Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables (Note 28) - 4315
As at December 31, 47,724 48,592

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of advances and other receivables can be reconciled
as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AEDW000

As at January 1, 55,030 12,000

Allowanee for expected eredit losses (Note 28) 47,815 43,030

As at December 31, 102,845 55,030
The ageing of trade receivables which are not impaired at the reporting date are as follows:
Nort Past due bt not impaired

past due nor <60 60-90 =00

Total impaired Days Days Days

AED'D0D AED'D00 AED'D00 AED'000 AED'000

2023 300,592 241,362 9,205 14,961 35,064

2022 353,664 322,269 5,451 3,412 31,395

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in within normal eredit terms of 45 to
6D days after which they are considered to be past due. Unimpaired accounts receivable are expected, on
the basis of past experience, to be recoverable. Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customers’ quality and defines credic limits for customer. There are 3 customers who represent
more than 29% (2022: more than 18%) of the total balance of trade receivables.

Majority of the trade receivables are from sales agents which are secured mainly by bank guarantees and
deposits.
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15 Related parties

The Group in the normal course of business cartics on transactions with other enterprises that fall within
the definition of related party. The Gmup's relared parti:s include key management PI:!HD,I‘II’M‘_‘L entities held
under common control, associates, joint ventures and others. Transactions with related parties are carried
out in the normal course of business and are measured at exchange amounts, being the amounts agreed by
both the Board of Directors and the respected related party.

Transactions with related parties included in the consalidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Rental income from aireraft operating lease (Note 26) 112,016 198,720
Expenses recharped by related partes (44,126) (48,780)
Revenue from related parties 46,713 97,611
Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 30) 61,673 43,073
Income from investments in associates and joint ventures 88,121 36,231

Compensation of key management personnel

A number of key management personnel hold positions in the Group that result in them having control or
significant influence over the financial or operating activides. Compensation of key management personnel
are as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Short term benefits 24,436 14,398
Long term benefits 800 391
Board of Directors' remuneration® 8,000 8,000

* At the Annual General Meeting held on March 14, 2023, Board of Directors proposed, and the
shareholdets approved Board of Directors' remuneration of AED 8 million for the yeat ended December
31, 2022 (2021: AED 8 million).

Balances with related parties included in the consclidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'D00

Amounts due from related partes: (Note 14)
Receivable frotn associates and joint ventures 52,045 75,726
Other related parties 10,594 70,662
62,639 146,388
2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000
Amounts due to related parties: (Note 21)

Payable to joint ventures 108,603 68,698
Other related parties 2,600 44.033
111,203 112,731

Amounts due from/(to) related parties above are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment
terms. The management considers these to be current assers/current liabilities as appropriare.
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16 Bank balances and cash
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Bank balances

Fixed deposits™* 3,984,069 3,680,064
Current accounts 1,087,181 825,852
Call deposits 166,965 212,680

5,238,215 4,724,596
Cash in hand 8,162 11,655
Bank balances and eash 5,246,377 4,736,251

* These deposits carry an average interest rate of 5.45% (2022; 3.62%) per annum.

17 Share capital
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000

Authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital
(4,666,700 thousand shares of AED 1 each) 4,666,700 4,666,700

Dividends

At the Annual General Meeting held on March 14, 2023, the Board of Directors proposed, and the
shareholders approved a cash dividend approximately of AED 700 million at AED 0.15 per share for the
year ended December 31, 2022 (2021: 397 million at AED 0.085 per share).

18 Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Assodiation and Ardcle 241 of Federal Decree Law No. 32
of 2021, a minimum of 10% of the net profit for the year has to be transferred to the statutory teserve.
Such transfers are required to be made undl the balanee on the statutory reserve equals one half of the
Company’s paid-up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except as provided for in the
Federal Decree Law.

18 General reserve

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, an amount equal to 10% of the net profit for
the year is transferred to a general reserve. Transfers to this reserve shall stop by resolution of an Ordinary
General Assembly upon recommendation by the Board of Directors or when this reserve reaches 50% of
the paid-up capital of the Group. This reserve shall be utilized for the purposes determined by the General
Assembly at an ordinary meeting upon recommendation by the Board of Directors,

20 Provision for staff terminal benefits
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
As at January 1, 170,015 144,637
Charge for the year 44,056 33,737
Payments made during the year (5,896) (8,359)
As at December 31, 208,175 170,015
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21 Trade and other payables

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'D00
Finaicial fabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,729,311 1,757,700
Accrued expenses 757,297 654,897
Other payables 1,113,581 860,502
Trade payables 288,029 398,804
Amounts due to related parties (Note 15) 111,203 112,731
Lease deposit payables 34,986 35,645
4,034,407 3,820,369
Non-financial liability
Advances from customers 94,513 49,166
4,128,920 3,869,535
Less:
MNon-current liabilities
Maintenance liabilities 1,214,621 1,371,725
Lease deposit payable 34,986 35,641
1,249,607 1,407,366
Current liabilities 2,879,313 2,462,169

The Gmup has financial rsk management Pa]iciu:ﬁ in Plac:: to ensure that all Payﬂbles are pa.id within the
credit period.

22 Derivative financial instruments

Fuel dervatives

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes. Hedging instruments are
measured at their fair value at the reporting date and the effective portion of the changes in their fair value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, as part of the cash flow hedge
reserve in line with provisions of IFRS 9.

No loss was recognised in 2023 (2022: AED Nil) relating to the ineffective portion of trade deals and the
settlement of the same in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as part of fuel costs (Note 27).

The Group has reassessed the hcdgmg mlauonahip as at sznm.ng date and concluded that the forecast
transactions being hedged are highly probable to occur in the future. Cash flow hedge asset is categorised
into the following

2023 2022
Term AED'000 Term AED'000

Non-current asset
Commodity swaps, forwards options

and others 2025-2026 48,044 2024-2025 344,586
Current asset
Commodity swaps, collars, forwards

options and others 2024 11,629 2023 28,753
Total (Note 14) 59,673 373,339
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23 Lease liabilities

The Group has entered into leasing arrangements with leasing companies to finance the purchase of the
aircraft. The terms of the leases ate 5 - 15 years for aircrafts and hangar. Lease liabilities in respect of right-
of-use assets recognised (refer to Note 6) in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

As at January 1, 2,748,723 3,236,607
Additions to lease liabilites for the year 42,313 252,158
Payments made during the year (637,773) (740,042)
As at December 31, 2,153,263 2,748,723

Lease liabilities ate disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Non-current portion of lease liabilities 1,567,827 2,126,498
Current portion of lease liabilities 585,436 622,225
2,153,263 2,748,723

The lease liahilities are secured by the associated leased aircraft (Note 5).

The lease agreements are subject to cettain financial and operational covenants including compliance with
vatious regulations, restrictions on unapproved subleasing, insurance coverage and maintenance of total
debt to equity ratio.

Lease liabilities are payable as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Not later than one year 585,436 622,225
Later than one year but not later than five years 1,567,827 2,126,498
As at December 31, 2,153,263 2,748,723

The finance charges are calculated based on average interest rate of 4% (2022: 4%).

24 Bank borrowings
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Non-current 30,610 30,604
Cutrent portion 95,084 108,881
Total bank borrowings 125,694 139,485

In 2022, the Group had obtained 2 loan of USD 25 million for partial reimbursement pre-delivery payment
of aircrafts. The loan is repayable over a period 36 months from the initial drawdown date and carties an
intetest of 1.6% + 3 months SOFR (2022: 1.6% + 3 months SOFR).

47



Air Arabia PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2023

25 Business combinations

Acquisition of remaining 49% ownership interest in T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC

In 2022, the Group acquired further 49% ownership interest in T3 Aviaton Academy UAE LLC (“T3™)
(formerly Alpha Aviation Academy UAE LIC - a former jui.nl: venture of the GrGup) for a total
consideration of AED 11 million, thereby increasing its total ownership interest to 100% after this
transaction. The details of the acquisition are as follows:

2022

AED'000

Consideration for acquisidon of 49% ownership interast 11,025
Fair value of pre-existing interest in the Subsidiary (51%) 11,475
22,500

Fair value of net assets 22,500
Provisional goodwill arising on acquisition -

As a result of the above transacdon, in 2022 the Group had derecognized its investment in T3 Aviation
Academy UAE LLC as 4 joint venture and has recognized a gain on derecognition of investment in joint
venture as follows:

2022

AED'000

Fair value of pre-existing intetest (51%) 11,475
Carrying value of investment in T3 Aviation Academy UAE LLC as joint

venture 1,636

Gain in derecognition of investment in joint venture (Mote 30) 9!839

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group has completed the measurement of fair value of
assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition and accordingly, adjustments resulting from fair valuatdon of
net assets at the date of acquisition of T3 have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

26 Revenue
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Passenger revenue 4,996,622 4,282 537
Other aitline related services 468,992 358,152
Serviee revenue 264,221 213,498
Aircraft lease rentals - net (Note 15) 112,016 198,720
Cargo revenue 157,360 171,516
Revenue from hotel operatdons 67,846 61,563
Baggage revenue 49,705 44,336
Sales commissions and expenses (117,012) (88,482)
5,999,750 5,241,830
27 Direct costs
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Fuel eosts (Note 22) 1,690,639 1478012
Staff costs 774,751 586,204
Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5) 495,060 511,642
Alrcraft maintenance expenses 438,924 498,790
Landing and overflying charges 361,209 276,198
Passenger, ground and technical handling charpes 312,891 258,359
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 6) 113,104 92,896
Insurance 12,274 8,368
Other operating eosts 144,332 03,892
4,343,184 3,810,261
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28 Administrative and general expenses

Staff costs

Allowance for expected eredit losses of advanees and other
receivables (Note 14)

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5)

Legal and professional fees

Travel and accommodation costs

Rent expenses

Communication cosrs

Allowance for E]G_PCEth credit losses of trade receivables (MNote 14)

Other administrative and general expenses

29 Selling and marketing expenses

Staff costs
Advertisement expenses
Reservation management expenses

3o Other income, net

Management fees from joint ventures and associates (Note 15)
Reversal for expected credit losses of trade receivables (Note 14)
Gain on disposal of investment properties (Note §)

Gain on disposal of investment in joint venture (Note 25)
Others

b Basic and diluted earnings per share

Profit arributable to the Owners of the Company

Wcightcd average number of shares (in ‘000)

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
127,236 114,838
47,815 43,030
29,741 19,439
10,544 11,887
12,574 8,770
8,575 7,303
6,785 5,631

b 4,315

85,936 70,854
329,206 286,467
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
42,774 36,808
37,660 29,657
8,359 1,585
88,793 68,050
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
61,673 43,073
868 -

- 43,030

- 9,839

50,930 39,671
113,471 135,613
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
1,547,132 1,221,786
4,666,700 4,666,700
0.33 0.26
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32 Operating lease commitments
The Group as a lessor:

As at December 31, 2023, the Group has leased out 22 aircrafts (2022: 23) under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements to related parties.

The leases have varying terms and renewal rights. The future minimum lease payments receivable under
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are
shown below:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Within one year 220,025 249,001
Between 2 and 5 years 399,861 557,720
619,386 806,721

The carrying amount of the leased aircrafts owned by the Group under operating leases at the reporting
date are as follows:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Net book value 1,227,641 1,370,323
Accumulated depreciation 1,611,899 1,611,780
Depreciation chatge for the year 143,395 158,641

33 Contingent liabilities

The Group have letters of guarantees and credits entered into as part of the normal course of business and
in connection with deposits against leased aircrafts amounting to AED 61 million approximately as at
December 31, 2023 (2022: AED 41 million), which at December 31, 2023 are not expected to result in
matetial losses for the Group in the foreseen future and not consider it probable that there will be an
outflow of economic resoutces with regard to these contingent liabilites.

34 Capital commitments
2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Authorised and contracted:
Aircraft fleet (Note 7) 22,928,778 23,230,529
35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main types of risks are
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's tisk management is coordinated at Group level, in close cooperation with the Board of
Directors, and focuses on actively secuting the Group's short to medium-term cash flows by minimising
the exposute to financial matkets.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it
wtite optons. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described on the
following pages:
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk

Market tisk is the risk that the fait value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a
result of changes in market prices whether those changes ate caused by factors specific to the individual
secutity or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to interest
rate risk and price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

i Interest rate risk

Intetest rate tisk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates

The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rate on its borrowings,
taking into account market expectations, the maturity profile and cash flows of the undetlying debt, and
the extent to which debt may potentially be either prepaid priot to its maturity or refinanced at reduced
COst.

The Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through fixed deposits, investments, call deposits,
lease liabilities and bank borrowings.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile on the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as
follows:

2023 2022
AED'000 AED'000
Fixedrate
Financial assets
Fixed deposits 3,984,069 3,686,064
Call deposits 166,965 212,680
4,151,034 3,898,744
Variable rate
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities 2,153,263 2,748,723
Bank borrowings 125,694 139,485
2,278,957 2,888,208

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and closing equity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates of £1% (2021: £1%). These changes are considered to be reasonably
possible based on obsetvation of current market conditions. Positive figures represent an increase in profit
ot equity. The analysis below excludes interest capitalized and assumes that all other variables remain
constant.

Effect on Effect on
Profit for the year Equity
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
+1% -1% +1% -1%
2023 (22,789) 22,789 (22,789) 22,789
2022 (28,882) 28,882 (28,882) 28,882
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

ii. Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of its listed equity securities (Note 11). For the listed
equity securities, an average volatility of 11% has been observed duting 2023 (2022: 33%). This volatility
figure is considered to be a suitable basis for estimating how profit or loss and equity would have been
affected by changes in market risk that were reasonably possible at the reporting date. If the quoted stock
ptice for these securities incteased ot decreased by that amount, consolidated statements of other
comprehensive income and equity would have changed by AED 1 million (2022: AED 3.4 million). The
listed securtities are classified as investments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one patty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other patty to incur a financial loss.

The Group is exposed to this tisk for various financial instruments, fotr example trade receivables from
customers, placing deposits, etc. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying
amount of financial assets tecognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

2023 2022

AED'000 AED'000

Bank balances and deposits 5,238,215 4.724.596
Trade and other teceivables 888,698 916,172
Cash flow hedge asset 59,673 373,339
Investments measured at fair value through OCI 230,332 43,166
6,416,918 6,057,273

The following policies and procedure are in place to mitigate the Group’s exposure to credit risk:

Trade and other receivables

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to trade receivables by continuously monitoring the
terms of payments for the outstanding amounts. Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industties and geographical areas.

Bank balances and deposits

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to banks by only dealing with reputable banks.
Jet fuel risk

The Group is exposed to volatility in the price of jet fuel and closely monitors the actual cost against the
forecast cost. To manage the ptice tisk, the Group considers the use of commodity futures, options and
swaps to achieve a level of control over higher jet fuel costs so that profitability is not adversely affected.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity tisk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Liquidity requitements are monitored on a
regular basis and management ensures that sufficient funds are available to meet any future commitments.

The Group’s tisk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group
manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities. Cash flow
forecasts are prepared and adequate utilisation of borrowing facilities are monitored, including the need for
additional botrowings, as required. The Group has 30 to 90 days credit period from its vendors.
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35 Financial instruments and risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Summarised below in the table is the maturity profile of financial liabilities and net settled detivative
financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the end of repotting petiod to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed ate the contractual discounted cash flows.

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Within More than
amount 1year 1year Total
2023 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Lease liabilities 2,153,263 585,436 1,567,827 2,153,263
Trade and other payables 4,034,407 1,249,607 2,784,800 4,034,407
Bank borrowings 125,694 95,084 30,610 125,694
Total 6,313,364 1,930,127 4,383,237 6,313,364

Contractual cash flows

Carrying Within  More than
amount 1 year 1 year Total
2022 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Lease liabilities 2,748,723 622,225 2,126,498 2,748,723
Trade and other payables 3,820,369 2,413,003 1,407,366 3,820,369
Bank borrowings 139,485 108,881 30,604 139,485
Total 6,708,577 3,144,109 3,564,468 6,708,577

36 Fair value measurement

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are grouped
into three levels of fair value hierarchy. This gtouping is determined based on the lowest level of significant
inputs used in fair value measurement, as follows:

® level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active matkets for identical assets or liabilities

® Jevel 2: inputs other than quoted ptices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as ptices) ot indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

® level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value

hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categotised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value

hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period
during which the change has occurred.

The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of financials assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
At December 31, 2023 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — equity instruments 9,216 - -
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — debt instruments - 221,116 -
Cash flow hedge asset - 59,673 =
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36 Fair value measurement (continued)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
At December 31, 2022
Financial asset
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — equity instruments 10,321 - -
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income — debt instruments - 32,845 -
Cash flow hedge asset - 373,339 -

37 Segment Reporting

For management putposes, the Group is organised into two major reportable segments as follows:

e Airline

Includes international commertcial air transportation, aircraft rental, passengers transport, cargo services,

aviation training and aircraft repairs and maintenance.

®  Other segments

Includes travel and tourist agencies, hotels, hotel apartment rentals, airline companies, representative office

and documents transfer services.

The following table presents revenue and profit information for the Group’s operating segments for the

year ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively:

Other
December 31, 2023 Airline segments  Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Revenue
External sales 5,667,299 332,451 - 5,999,750
Inter-segment sales - 64,184 (64,184) -
Total revenue 5,667,299 396,635 (64,184) 5,999,750
Result
Segment result 1,614,841 (155,266) - 1,459,575
Share of profit of investments in associates

and joint ventures 88,121
Profit for the year 1,547,696
Other information
Additions to property and equipment and

deferred charges 30,678 45,950 - 76,628
Depreciation and amottisation 626,069 21,258 - 647,327
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37 Segment Reporting (continued)

Other
December 31, 2022 Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Revenue
External sales 4,977,259 264,571 - 5,241,830
Inter-segment sales - 64,569 (64,569) -
Total tevenue 4,977,259 329,140 (64,569) 5,241,830
Result
Segment result 1,112,332 73,743 - 1,186,075
Share of profit of investments in associates

and joint ventures 36,231
Profit for the year 1,222 306
Other information
Additions to property and equipment and

defetred charges 28,836 23,425 - 52,261
Depteciation and amottisation 614,789 19,168 - 633,957

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

The following table presents assets and liabilities information for the Group’s operating segments as at
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively:

Othet
Airline segments  Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
December 31, 2023
Assets
Segment assets 9,665,652 1,435,453 (949,284) 10,151,821
Unallocated assets 4,522,723
Total assets 14,674,544
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 7,587,448 501,290 (949,284) 7,139,454
Other
Airline segments Eliminations Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
December 31, 2022
Assets
Segment assets 9,871,184 1,224,059 (861,396) 10,233,847
Unallocated assets 4,203,216
Total assets 14,437,063
Liabilities
Segment liabilides 7,705,924 596,900 (861,396) 7,441,428
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37 Segment Reporting (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 4. Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment without considering share
of profit/(loss) on equity accounted investments. Segment assets do not include fixed deposits,
investments, investment properties and investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate. Goodwill
and intangible assets have been allocated to the Airline segment.

s Capital management policies and procedures

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in light of changes in business and
economic conditions or to respond to any financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or process during the years ended December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2022, Capital includes share capital, statutory reserve, general reserve, other
reserves and retained earnings, and is measured at AEID’000 7,534,006 as at December 31, 2023 (2022:
AEI'000 6,995,115).

39 Subsequent events

There have been no other events subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date that
would significantly affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended December 31, 2023,
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1. Practices of corporate governance

Air Arabia has been one of the leading companies in applying the principles of corporate governance
among the public companies. Air Arabia strongly believes in the importance of the practical application of
governance practices and the strong adherence to the related laws & regulations and the operations within
the general framework of the principles of corporate governance which preserves the rights and interests of
the company, its investors, its management and the investment environment surrounding it.

Therefore, Air Arabia, and all its subsidiaries and group companies are committed to all laws and regulations
imposed upon them as a global aviation and as a public joint stock company. This covers the Commercial
Companies Law number 2 of 2015 and law number 26 of 2020 pertaining to commercial companies. The
company is also committed to the strict application of Ministerial Decree No. (518) for the year 2009 followed
by the resolution number 7 for the year 2016, and resolution number 3 of 2020 issued by the Minister of
Economy and Chairman of the Securities and Commaodities Authority regarding corporate governance and
corporate discipline, and any decisions that may be issued or amended in future. This cultivates confidence
of those major investment bodies around the globe to occupy a position within the owners of Air Arabia.

To reflect the above, Air Arabia had issued the corporate governance manual, which besides many other
details, covers the following:

1. Shareholder Communication Statement

2. Code of Ethic and Conduct

3. Share Dealing Policy

4. Whistle Blowing Policy

5. Corporate Social & Environmental Responsibility
6. Dividends Policy

The full manual is posted on the company’s intranet and is available for all employees to refer to at
any point in time.

2. Board members ownership trades in Air Arabia shares during the year:

The Board of Directors of Air Arabia and senior management are well briefed, informed, and aware of the
importance of the rules and procedures that govern the dealings of board members and senior managers
of the company who, by virtue of their responsibilities, possess information that is not yet available to
the public. In order to raise the level of transparency and disclosure and to allow equal opportunity to all
shareholders when dealings in the company’s shares, equal even to insiders from within the company, the
company issued a statement internally which is included within the corporate governance manual, which
sets the conditions and restrictions of insider trading, and the importance to disclose any inside trading
in this report. The company aspires through these actions being taken to protect the rights of all parties
concerned, as well as maintaining the company’s reputation and enhancing the confidence of shareholders
and investors of the company.



Ownership and trades during the year follows:

Post or relationship Number of shares Total Purchases Total Sales during

owned as of during the year the year
31.12.2023

Shk Abdullah Al Thani Chairman 8,500,000 - -

Wife 700,000

Adel Abdullah Ali Board Member 41,464,642 - -

Shk Khalid Al Qasimi Board Member 2,400,000 - -

Shk Mohammed Al Thani | Board Member 18,289,407 - -

Matar Al Blooshi Board Member 0 - -

Waleed Al Sayegh Board Member 0 - -

Dr. Ohoud Shuhail Board Member 0 - -

3. Board of Directors:
a. Composition of the board:

Air Arabia board of directors consists of 7 board members. The current board was appointed by the AGM of
2023 for three years:

1. Sheikh Abdullah Bin Mohammed Al Thani Chairman of the Board
2. Adel Abdullah Ali Executive member

3. Sheikh Mohammed Bin Abdullah Al Thani Non-Executive member
4. Sheikh Khalid Bin Issam Al Qassimi Non-Executive member
5. Waleed Ibrahim Al Sayegh Independent member

6. Matar Al Blooshi Independent member

7. Dr. Ohoud Al Shuhail Independent member



Summary biographies of the members:

Sheikh Abdullah Bin Mohammad Al Thani
Air Arabia Chairman since 2003

His Excellency Sheikh Abdullah Bin Mohammed Al Thani holds several prominent
positions in UAE. He served as member of the Executive Council of Sharjah and as
Chairman of Sharjah Civil Aviation Department. He has a well-known track record in
contributions towards developing air transport sector in UAE, as well as significant
contributions and support to Economic & Tourism development in Sharjah.

Adel Abdullah Ali
Chief Executive Officer & Air Arabia Board Member since 2003

Mr. Adel Al Ali is well known for being at the forefront of the development of
modern aviation. His innovative achievements and contribution to air transport
and tourism sector in the wider Arab world are globally recognised. He managed
to transform Arab aviation in October 2003 when he set up Air Arabia, the Middle
East and North Africa’s first low-cost carrier (LCC), opening up a market niche in
the region whose existence few had suspected.

The pioneering aviator drove Air Arabia’s growth in the next decade into the
largest low-cost carrier in the MENA region, as well as the first publicly owned
airline in the Arab World and it's largest by market value. Drawing on his multiple
years of experience with industry leaders such as Gulf Air and British Airways,
Adel has also been able to guide Air Arabia to become amongst the world's best
run Low Cost Carriers, delivering a profit for every year in succession.

Under the leadership of Adel, Air Arabia’s business model has gone from
strength-to-strength, enabling it to expand operations, enter new ventures
and diversify into new revenue streams. Today, the Group holds a portfolio
of successful businesses and projects, offering travel, tourism and hospitality
services across the globe.

In addition to being the Group Chief Executive Officer of Air Arabia, Adel is also
the chairman of Sharjah Information Systems Associates, Alpha Aviation Academy
and Cozmo Travel and he is a board member of Sharjah Aviation Services.

Adel has been awarded ‘Airline CEO of the year’ by various industry forums.
He recently received the prestigious 2020 Laureate Award for extraordinary
achievement in airline strategy. Earlier he won the "Airline Business Award” at
the esteemed Airline Strategy Awards and he was also named ‘World's best Low
Cost Carrier CEQ' during the World LCC Congress. Adel has also entered the “Hall
of Fame Award” in honoring his contribution to the Middle East Aviation.

Sheikh Mohammed Bin Abdullah Al Thani

Air Arabia Board Member since March 2011, Former Chairman - Department
of Statistics.

H.E. Sheikh Mohammed Al Thani is one of the young leaders in Sharjah, and a
businessman, with positive footprints in many business fields especially travel and
tourism. H.E. assumed the role Director of His Highness Sharjah Ruler’s Office in
the American University of Sharjah. Late 2011, he was appointed Director General




of Sharjah Statistics Center, and then Chairman of that department till 2019.

Besides that, he also serves as Chairman of Gamma Aviation, AM Holding
Company, Al Nawras Catering Company, Santos International Company, Ascent
Advertising Company and Universal Tourism Company; he is also the Deputy
Chairman Sharjah Golf & Shooting Club.

Sheikh Khalid Bin Isam Al Qassimi
Air Arabia Board Member since 2014, Chairman Department of Civil Aviation
of Sharjah.

H.E. Sheikh Khalid Bin Isam Al Qassimi is the Chairman of the Department of
Civil Aviation in Sharjah, he also is a member of the Executive Council of Sharjah
Government, which is Chaired by H.H. Crown Prince of Sharjah.

Through his career, Sheikh Khalid has served in various posts in both Sharjah
Airport Authority, and Department of Civil Aviation. In 2012 he was appointed
as Director General of Sharjah Civil aviation, and in early 2014 Shk Khalid was
nominated as Chairman of Sharjah Civil Aviation.

Besides the above stated resposibilities, Mr. Al Qassimi is a board member of the
General Civil Aviation Authority, part of the Federal Government of the United
Arab Emirates.

Sheikh Khalid holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce, and a master’s degree in
international business.

H.E. Waleed Ibrahim Al Sayegh
Air Arabia Board Member since 2017. Director General Sharjah Central Finance
Department

H.E. Mr. Waleed Al Sayegh is the Director General of Finance Department
(Government of Sharjah), and the Chief Executive Officer of Sharjah Asset
Management, the investment arm of the Government of Sharjah. He has earned
his master’s degree in finance from the University of Lincoln, UK. He is also a
Chairman of Board of Directors Sharjah Holding Company, a Chairman of Board
of Directors ANABEEB Company, a Member of Fiscal Policy Committee in the
Ministry of Finance, a Member of Board of Directors Federal Tax Authority, a
Member of Board of Directors Tilal Proprieties, a Member of Board of Directors
Air Arabia, and a Member of Bank of Sharjah Board of Directors.

Mr. Al Sayegh's expertise extends thirty years in accounting, finance management,
and public finance field. He has worked for several leading government
authorities and private entities in the United Arab Emirates, including Sharjah
International Airport Authority, Dubai Holding, and Al-Futtaim Group. He is
Chartered Accountant, Approved by Ministry of Economics & Commerce in UAE,
and Court Approved Expert Accountant, in all courts in UAE

Matar Al Blooshi
Air Arabia Board Member since 2019

Mr. Matar Al Blooshi, a national of the United Arab Emirates, with over 22 years
experience in financial and fund management industry. He started his career in January
1992 with the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates as a Dealer in the treasury
department. In July 1995 he joined Abu Dhabi Investment Company as a Portfolio
Manager, in June 1998 he joined First Gulf Bank as Head of Treasury & Investment
Division and then he moved to National Bank of Abu Dhabi in March 2001 as a Head



of Foreign Exchange and Commodities Department. In February 2005 Mr. Al Blooshi
became the Head of Domestic Capital Market Group and the General Manager of Abu
Dhabi Financial Services (Subsidiary of National Bank of Abu Dhabi) and he was given
the title of Senior Manager / Asset Management Group in October 2006.

Currently Mr. Al Blooshi is the Chief Investment Officer at Das Holding LLC, a Member
of the Board of Directors of First Energy Bank in Bahrain, Al Salam Bank Bahrain, Etisalat
Misr and Chairman of Maalem Holdings in Bahrain.

Mr. Al Blooshi is a hard-working group leader, with excellent interpersonal analytical
and problem solving skills and building numerous contacts within the investment
arena.

Mr. Al Blooshi holds a B.A in Banking & Financial Management from University of
Arkansas, USA (1991).

Dr. Ohoud Ali Al Shuhail
(Air Arabia Board Member since 2023)
Director General, Department of digital Ajman

Dr. Ohoud is an aspiring Emirati who has scripted her success story with relentless
determination and commitment towards promoting the Information, Communication
and Technology (ICT) Industry in UAE. The Government at the “UAE Pioneers Award”
has recognized her pioneering role and she continues to inspire success. She holds
many academic qualifications to her credit, a bachelor's degree of Software Engineering
(Information Technology, 2005), a Master's of Business Administration (2011), a
Doctorate degree of Business Administration (2021) and lately a second Masters of
Strategic and Security Studies (2022). Her experience and expertise in the ICT industry
has earned her many keynote speaking and proactive panelist opportunities on global
platforms such as UN. Currently, she is leading the team of Department of digital
Ajman as their Director General. She is also serving as a member many high esteemed
committees across the UAE such as: a member of Aiman Executive Council, a member
of the Artificial Intelligence and Block Chain Council of UAE, a member of the National
Cybersecurity Council, a member of the Advisory Board of the College of Computing
and Informatics at the University of Sharjah, and a member of the Board of Ajman
University Innovation Center. Her career path is dotted with remarkable achievements
and milestones in all the government positions she has served. A strong believer in the
spirit of teamwork, her leadership qualities are reflected in her impeccable work ethics
and empowered team that grows with her vision. Her exceptional management and
strategic planning abilities has resulted in UAE being represented in local, regional and
international forums of the ICT industry. The exemplary achievements of the Ajiman
Digital government are ideal case studies presented on such platforms to showcase
the remarkable accomplishments. Her principle of life and work “Realize the ambitions
of our visionary leaders, determination of a will for a great nation rooted in the wisdom
of our culture and traditions of our beloved country, WE, Emiratis make success a way
of life, wherever we go, whatever we pursue”.



Membership in other Public Companies in UAE:

1. Shk Abdullah Bin Mohammed Al Thani: Besides chairing Air Arabia board of directors, H.E. is the
Deputy Chairman of Al Buhairah Insurance Company.

2. Mr. Waleed Al Sayegh is board member of Invest Bank

3. Mr. Matar Al Blooshi is a board member of Al Salam Bank (Bahrain)

b. Female representation in the board:

Females are present in the board of Air Arabia PJSC.

c. Board Remuneration:

1.2022: The AGM approved AED 8M as total board remuneration.

2.2022: No Attendance Allowance was given.

3.2023: A total board remuneration of AED 8.0M is recommended to the AGM.
4.2023: No other payments, allowances, payments made to board members.

d. Board meetings and attendees:

A table detailing the dates and attendees of the board meetings is presented under appendix 1.

e. Resolutions passed by circulation:

None.

f. Boards Duties & Responsibilities delegated to the management:

Referring to the duties and responsibilities of the board of directors, the Board oversees the company
strategically, reviews the strategies and implementation with the executive management, while the Executive
management is authorized to run the day-to-day activities of the company, and report to the board the
expansion plans, challenges, and future objectives. The board did not delegate a specific task to the
management; however, the executive management is given the freedom and responsibility to run the day-
to-day operations and revert to the board for major decision or investments.

g. Transactions with related parties:

No transactions with related parties, other than those disclosed in the audited financial statements.

h. Senior Staff Pay details:

Group CEO: AED 7.2M during 2023 plus accommodation and transportation.

Senior Management team: which is formed of 6 members, and their total remuneration is AED 9.3M which
includes, Salaries, Allowances, and children’s education.

The corporate structure is presented in appendix 5.

4.External Accounts Auditor: Grant Thornton (GT)

a) Introduction about the Auditors to the Shareholders:

Grant Thornton has been appointed as the Auditors of the Company for the year 2021. It is one of the
leading and independent international organizations providing audit, tax and consulting services. Grant
Thornton International has been providing professional services for more than a hundred years in more
than 130 countries and operating more than 700 offices worldwide. Grant Thornton International has more
than 50,000 employees working at the member firms around the world.



Grant Thornton UAE is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Limited, which was established in
1966. Grant Thornton has been able to gain good reputation in providing excellent services to companies
locally, regionally, and globally. Grant Thornton UAE has more than 250 employees including 20 partners.
Grant Thornton UAE provides services including auditing, tax, consulting, internal audit, fact finding and IT
consulting services through its offices in UAE.

b) Statement of fees and costs for the audit or services provided by the external auditor is shown in
the following table:

Name of the audit firm and the audit partner Grant Thornton Auditing and Accounting
Farouk Mohamed (since 2022)

Number of years spent as an external auditor in the Company Since 2019
Total audit fees for the year 2022 AED 530,000
Fees and costs of other private services other than audit of the N/A

financial statements for the year 2022 (AED), if any, and in the
absence of any other fees, to be stated clearly

Details and nature of the other services provided (if any) and in the | PKF was requested to assess the Goodwill
absence of other services, to be stated clearly value

5. Audit Committee:

This committee was formed in accordance with the rules and regulations governing corporate governance.
The board has also assigned the responsibility of Risk Management to the audit committee. The committee
is formed of three members:

Mr. Waleed Al Sayegh Chairman
Mr. Matar Al Blooshi Member
Dr. Ohoud Al Shuhail Member

The committee submits its reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors.

The general duties of the committee are as follows:

a) Adopt a policy for appointing and contracting with the external auditor.
b) Reviewing and auditing the financial statements.

c) Articulate the control and audit measures.

d) Articulate fiscal and audit policies.

e) Issue general audit reports

f) Follow whistle blowing policies.

g) Oversee insider trading.

h) Consider assignments from the board of directors.

The corporate governance manual dictates the detailed duties and responsibilities of the committee.

b. Table with meeting dates and attendees:

Furthermore, appendix 2 contains the committee’s meetings and attendance during the year.



6. Nominations and Remuneration committee:

This committee was formed in accordance with the rules and regulations governing corporate governance
and is composed of three members:

Shk Mohammed Al Thani Chairman
Sheikh Khalid Al Qassimi Member
Mr. Waleed Al Sayegh Member

The committee report to the board of directors it views and recommendations, and is responsible
for the following tasks:

A) Set the board’s nominations policy, one that supports a mixed gender board.

B) Manage the process of board nomination, in line with the rules and regulations governing it including
SCAs Chairman'’s resolution number 7/2016.

C) Ensure that independent directors continue to be independent for the duration of their terms of office.

D) Articulate a policy governing board members remuneration, staff bonuses, benefits, incentives and
salaries; this is to be reviewed on an annual basis.

E) Review the board structure, and raise recommendations.

F) Identify the company’s needs of senior executive management, and other members of the management
team and defining the criteria of selection.

G) To annually review the human resources policies, and adopt the human resource policies and training,
and ensure proper implementation.

The corporate governance manual contains details of the functions, duties and responsibilities of the
committee. Appendix No. 3 contains a schedule of meetings with dates and attendance during the year.

7. Internal trading Supervision Committee:

The corporate governance manual covers the rules and regulations of insiders trading. It stipulates the
windows allowed for their trade, and that any trade should not be based on information that is not yet
available to the public. It also states the necessity to identify the traders' insider status to the broker to take
the necessary approvals from the authorities.

The role of supervising insider trading is assigned to the audit committee.

8. Investments Committee:
The board of directors established an investment committee formed of the following board members:

Mr. Matar Al Bloshi Chairman
Mr. Waleed Sayegh Member
Shk Mohammed Al Thani Member

The committee overlooks corporate investments, and provides guidance, consultancy and review of
investments proposals, studies, and instruments to support the executive management.



9. The internal control system

The board confirms its full responsibility over the functionality and robustness of the internal control
system. Head of Internal Audit is Mr. Mohammed Al Basha.

Qualifications: He holds a bachelor’s in accounting (1989) and Professional Certification in Audit from USA.
Date of appointment: 2013

The internal control system is an integrated system thatimposes procedures, conditions and administrative
laws, and monitors their practical implementation throughout the company’s operations. This system is
not a hindrance and an obstacle to the effectiveness of the work and speed of delivery and performance,
but on the contrary, it ensures the company’s development of effective performance and the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system.

The system measures the compliance with policies and procedures, protection of property, economic and
effective use of resources. The Board has acknowledged its responsibility for internal control system in the
company and the periodic review effectiveness.

Air Arabia has set up an “Internal Control Department” which is headed by Mr. Mohammed Al Basha, who
is a chartered accountant and a certified internal auditor, with over 25 years of experience in the field of
internal and external audit. He joined Air Arabia group back in 2013.

Objectives of Internal Control department:

The overall Objective of the Internal Audit is to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of control,
governance process and risk management within AIR ARABIA.

Internal Audit assists all members of the Management of the Company and the Board of Directors in
the effective execution of their responsibilities. To this end, the department provides independent
examinations, consultancy, investigations, evaluations, recommendations and comments on areas and
activities reviewed.

Furthermore, it works in partnership with management and adds value to the organization through advice,
guidance and recommendations. The scope of activity extends to group / associate companies also.

Key Accountabilities:

Develop company-wide audit programs to assure protection of corporate assets and be responsible for
ensuring the integrity of information; compliances with company policies, procedures and regulations;
evaluation of organizational performance; optimization of opportunity / risk; best utilization of resources
and formulation of internal control system.

Major duties include:

—

Develop and maintain Company-wide audit policies and practices.

Develop Company-wide internal audit plans and programs and Participate in and monitor execution of

internal audits programs / assignments.

3. Ensure consistent application of corporate financial and accounting policies and practices.

4. Reviewing the reliability and integrity of the financial, operating and other management information
systems and means used to identify measure, classify and report such information.

5. Reviewing the means of safequarding assets and as appropriate verifying the existence of such assets.

6. Appraising the economy and efficiency with which company’s resources are employed and identifying
opportunities for improving operating performance.

7. Observe and review the proceedings/functions of various committees as required by Audit Committee so

as to express an independent view.

N



8. Co-ordinate with External/statutory auditors.

9. Review and approve all significant changes in financial and accounting systems, practices and procedures
to ensure that internal control.

10. Carry out investigations and audits as suggested by the Senior Management or by the CEO / Board of
Directors, to determine the facts and causes of suspected irregularities.

11.Ensure that improvements to existing policies, practices and procedures are developed in order to
improve the controls and to safeguard the assets of company.

12.Report to the Board, about the adequacy and effectiveness of the company's system of internal
administrative, accounting and financial controls and the quality of operating performance when
compared with established standards.

13. Follow-up the status of audit reports and recommendations and submit follow-up Report to the Board
and the Audit Committee.

14. Design and schedule the Department’s annual audit plans and implement them after Board approval.

15. Make presentation on audit activities and studies on company and subsidiary organizations as required
by Audit Committee, Board of Directors / Management.

16. Prepare the Department’s annual plans and capital and operating budgets and, once approved, control
expenditure and staffing against these plans and budgets.

17. Exercise effective management of the Department's staff in terms of selecting, training, motivating,
evaluating and disciplining in appropriate liaison with HR function.

18. To ensure that the resources of the departments are effectively utilized.

19. Fully responsible for co-source / outsource of audit assignments.

10. Details of violations committed.

There were no violations.

11. Air Arabia’s commitment and contribution towards the society and environment:

Air Arabia advocate people on life’s journey with a mission that revolutionizes air travel in the region through
an innovative business approach offering superb value for money and a safe, reliable operation. In 2007,
Air Arabia introduced its ‘Charity Cloud’' program, a corporate social responsibility initiative in collaboration
with Sharjah Charity International that aims solely on directing such contributions to sustainable charitable
projects that focus on enhancing the education and healthcare of underprivileged communities around the
world.

Now, 16 years later, the program's impact is even more far-reaching, Air Arabia’s “Charity Cloud” has built
more than 100 charitable projects and initiatives including clinics and schools in various communities in
18 different countries around the world spreading across Sudan, Yemen, Bangladesh, India, Sri Lanka, and

Egypt.

The Charity Cloud program has achieved international recognition and won awards for the positive impact it
has had on the lives of children and community members, including winning the award for ‘Corporate Social
Responsibility Initiative of the Year’ at the annual Aviation Business Awards in 2016.

For the airline, supporting local communities within the global network in which it operates is a vital part of
the company’s ethos and through their contributions, Air Arabia’s passengers also become active partners
in making a positive difference to the world we live in.

Today over 120,000 patients have received medical treatment across the initiative's clinics and, at present,
over 30,000 patients are treated annually. Additionally, each ‘Charity Cloud' school caters to over 1000
students every year providing quality and sustainable education.

As part of its dedication to the environment, Air Arabia works with organizations to enhance its green
credentials, augmenting its program of recycling and waste disposal. The airline also continues to develop
and promote green offices and to encourage people to become more environmentally friendly and



to promote recycling in addition to all industrial waste generated by Air Arabia’s maintenance hangar is
collected and recycled.

Nonetheless, Air Arabia adopts innovation and the latest technology in its products as well as following a
fleet strategy that consists of new aircraft which contributes to less emissions and higher efficiency.

12. General Information:

a) Air Arabia Share price details by month end:

Month Lowest Price Highest Price Closing Price Month
Jan 2023 L, 2.15 2.28 29 Jan 2023 L,
Feb 2023 1.8 219 241 2.95 Feb 2023 ,.l,.%
Mar 2023 ju,lo 2.08 2.28 2.12 Mar 2023 yw,lo
Apr 2023 J, | 2.09 2.25 2.19 Apr 2023 Ju |
May 2023 s,lo 2.19 2.34 2.26 May 2023 s.lo
Jun 2023 g.g, 223 25 2.42 Jun 2023 g9,
Jul 2023 g.Js, 2.42 2.73 2.69 Jul 2023 5.Js,
Aug 2023 gl 2.63 2.99 2.95 Aug 2023 (gl
Sep 2023 jroipw 2.59 2.95 2.81 Sep 2023 jroipww
Oct 2023 ,9:S| 2.42 2.88 2.62 Oct 2023 ,g:]
Nov 2023 ,.085) 2.58 2.78 2.69 Nov 2023 ;10855
Dec 2023 o> 2.59 2.83 2.82 Dec 2023 o>

b) Air Arabia Share price performance vs. market and sector during the year:

Share Price Movement vs Index & Industry

M—-//\—."

Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23
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¢) Air Arabia Ownership breakdown by year end:

) Quantity ) )
Description il Citizenship 4l Aagl) Percentage 4s slaal) 4uil)

BANK < ypas ARAB 25,000 0.00%

BANK s pas GCC 352,500 0.00%

BANK i jeae OTHERS 6,402 0.00%

BANK i jeae UAE 94,950,848 2.03%
Company 48 )i ARAB 1,797,980 0.04%
Company 4S_s GCC 152,981,939 3.28%
Company 48 & OTHERS 601,847,794 12.90%
Company i 4 UAE 2,723,163,400 58.35%

Government 4 Sa UAE 19,309,309 0.41%

Individual 2_ ARAB 67,230,882 1.44%

Individual 2.3 GCC 104,216,787 2.23%

Individual 2 2 OTHERS 304,400 0.00%

Individual 2% UAE 826,571,712 17.71%

(SOLE PROPERTY) 41 8 4 ga GCC 700,000 0.015%
(SOLE PROPERTY) & s 3a OTHERS 304,400 0.006%
(SOLE PROPERTY) 2 8 G 3a UAE 12,065,242 0.258%
Market Maker UAE 140,201 0.00%
d) Air Arabia shareholders owning 5% or above:
Investor's Name Al ani QTY 4l %
Sharjah Asset Management LLC 2 a3 Jsa¥) o jla¥ 48 LA 865,904,256 18.55%
AL MAHA HOLDING COMPANY (FZE) &l Leall 429,613,509 9.21%
East and West International Group s 3 4xallall o gl 5 (33l 4c sana 422 277,100 9.05%
Bond Investments LLC popnd Uh ol X g 368,967,946 7.91%

e) Shareholders Distribution by ownership:

Tranche by number of shares Number of Total shares Percentage to the

owned Shareholders owned to the Capital
tranche

Less than 50,000 12,694 145,873,456 3.126%
50,000 to 500,000 1,687 233,514,535 5.004%
500K to 5M 489 661,560,082 14.176%
More than 5M 85 3,625,751,927 77.694%
Total 14,955 4,666,700,000 % 100




f) Step taken towards “Investors Relations”

Air Arabia has long established a division for investor relations. Mr. Abdelrahman Bin Taliah currently heads
it, along with the Group CEO, Group Director of Finance and Group Director of Corporate Communications
and Customer Experience who together play a very vital role in the division’s activities. Since its establishment
as a publicly listed company, Air Arabia has placed great attention on the investor relations department.
The department's responsibility is split into 2 major areas: first is looking after and servicing retail and
small investors through answering their queries, assisting in receiving their past dividends, explaining the
investment process, and updating their details with the market. The department has set a dedicated email
for their service (investorrelations@airarabia.com) and hotline: 065088977, besides having all necessary
details available on the IR page:

http://www.airarabia.com/en/corporate-investor-relations

On the other hand, the department also looks after high end, sophisticated investors such us fund manager,
analysts, and financial institutions.

Moreover, Air Arabia holds a database of analysts, fund manager, investors and interested segment that is
invited on a quarterly basis to a conference call where the Group CEO and Group CFO address them with the
quarter update, followed by question-and-answer session.

g) Extra Ordinary resolutions:

None.

h) Board Secretary:

Mr. Abdelrahman Bin Taliah
Appointed in 2007
Qualifications:

- Masters Degree in Strategic Management and Leadership

- Masters Degree in Project Management

- Bachelors in Finance and Management

- Certified Board Member by Hawkama

- Certified Board Secretary by Hawkama

- Graduate of UAE Federal Government Leadership Program

- Graduate of Shk Mohammed Bin Rashid Leadership Program
As a board secretary Mr. Bin Taliah is responsible to coordinate between the Board and the executive
management, setting up the board meetings and distributing the necessary invitations and agenda
packs, and keeping custody of the minutes and resolutions passed. Furthermore, Mr. Bin Taliah's
duties as board secretary are separate from his other daily duties as he overlooks International Affairs,
Government Relations, Investor Relations, and some of the group subsidiaries.

i) Major events in 2023:

This year witnessed the full recovery post the global pandemic that impacted the industry over the past two
years.

Q1:
January

Fly Jinnah celebrated the graduation of its 5th batch as cabin crew.
Air Arabia Maroc added new route from Fez to Weeze in Germany.
Air Arabia Abu Dhabi added new route to Amman.



February

Air Arabia Abu Dhabi launched new route to Kolkata.
Air Arabia reported record 2022 net profit of AED 1.2 billion and BOD proposed a cash dividend
distribution of 15 fils per share.

March

Air Arabia organized its latest CSR activity “Towards Greener Future”.
Air Arabia Maroc resumed flights between Casablanca and Tunis.
Air Arabia shareholders approved 15% dividend distribution at AGM.

Q2:
April

Air Arabia participated in ATM.
Air Arabia Egypt launched a new route to Gizan in KSA.

May

Air Arabia reported strong Q1 results of AED 342 million, up 17%.
Air Arabia launched a new route to Bangkok.
Fly Jinnah increased flight frequency between Karachi and Islamabad to three flights weekly.

June

Air Arabia launched a new city check-in facility in Sharjah.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Oujda to Lyon and Lile.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Fez to Nice.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Nador to Frankfurt.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Oujda to Montpellier.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Tangier to Cologne.

Air Arabia Maroc launched new route from Tangier to Palma and Montpelier.
Air Arabia Abu Dhabi launched a new route to Baghdad.

Q3:

July

Fly Jinnah launched a new route between Quetta and Islamabad.
Air Arabia Abu Dhabi launched a new route to Tehran.

August

Fly Jinnah launched mobile app for enhanced passenger convenience.

September

* Fly Jinnah tops Pakistan Civil Aviation ranking.



Awards:

- Air Arabia was awarded “Low-Cost Airline of the year” - at Aviation Achievement Awards 2023.

- Air Arabia marked among the top 20 safest low-cost airlines as per Airline Rating 2023.

- Air Arabia ranked the highest operating margin in the world- by Airline Weekly in September 2023.

- Air Arabia ranked first on the Airfinance journal top 100 airlines worldwide for four consecutive years
in October 2023.

- Air Arabia won “Budget Airline of the Year” honor at the Aviator Middle East Awards 2023 in December
2023.

j) UAE Nationals Percentage:

Air Arabia welcomes UAE nationals to explore all available vacancies and encourages them to join the aviation
sectors which embraces within it several very exciting fields. Within Air Arabia, UAE nationals are concentrated
in various departments. Some are located at Head Office holding managerial posts, the operations division
also hosts a number of UAE national pilots, and the Engineering and Maintenance team also comprises of
very talented, hardworking UAE national engineers.

The majority of Air Arabia’s work force (approximately 50%) consists of Cabin Crew, Technicians, and call
center agents, areas that currently do not fall under the radar of interest of UAE nationals today.

Year Total Staff Number of Cabin Crew, | UAE Nationals | Percentage of UAE nationals
Number Technicians, and Call less CC, Tech, and Call
Center Center
2021 1498 795 19 2.39%
2022 2058 1102 22 2.3%
2023 2515 1389 35 2.52%

k) Innovations During the year:

Air Arabia continuously adopts innovation and technology to offer the best quality services and minimize
the environmental impact of the operations across all business and activities. The management team
continues to set goals and strategy to achieve higher efficiency while always keeping the cost low.

Abdullah Bin Mohammed Waleed Al Sayegh Mohammed Bin Abdullah Mohammed Al Basha

Al Thani Al Thani

Chairman of the Board Chairman Chairman Remuneration Head of Internal Audit
Audit Committee Committee




* Appendix 1

Meetings Dates & Attendees of Air Arabia Board of Directors during the year

MY"’ MNII
Board Date Shk. Adel Ali | Shk. Shk Waleed | Matar Samer
Meeting Abdullah Mohammed | Khalid
number
1 10.1.2023 Y Y Y Y
2 13.2.2023 Y Y Y Y
Shk. Adel Ali | Shk. Shk Waleed | Matar Dr. Ohoud
Abdullah Mohammed | Khalid
8.5.2023 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
4 11'8'2923 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
Electronically
5 13.11.2023 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
* Appendix 2
Meetings Dates & Attendees of the Audit Committee and attendance:
MY"’ MNII
Audit Committee Date Waleed Matar Samer
Meeting
1 9.8.2023 Y Y
2 13.2.2023 Y Y Y
Waleed Matar Dr. Ohoud
3 11.8.2023 Y Y Y
4 13.11.2023 Y Y Y
* Appendix 3
Meetings Dates & Attendees of the Committee on Nominations and Remuneration:
MY"’ MNII
Audit Committee Date Shk Mohammed Shk Khalid Waleed
Meeting
1 13.2.2023 Y Y Y




* Appendix 5
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Chapter 1
Our

Foundation

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters
are fundamental parts of human life. They have
also become a more conscious and explicit part of
business life. This report provides an initial snapshot
of where Air Arabia stands on ESG performance.

Air Arabia is the first publicly listed airline in the
Middle East and North Africa region providing
the carrier an independent path to growth and
profitability; as part of its Investor Relations,
Air Arabia is keen to provide insights about the
performance not only through annual reports but

Our sustainability framework
defines Air Arabia Group's pivotal role
in shaping a better future and driving
sustainable performance

through the sustainability reports that will help
investors form their investment decisions and helps
Air Arabia gain exposure to a wider range of regional
and international investors.

The sustainability reports identify strengths and
opportunities for improvement at Air Arabia. What is
most important is that they will assist the Board and
Management in establishing rational priorities going
forward and provide benchmarks for measuring
improvement..
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About this report

Air  Arabia’s  sustainability report provides
information on our sustainability performance
in a reasonable manner and is addressed to all
stakeholders. Sustainability reporting enables us to
better communicate our management's approach
and performance of Air Arabia’'s material economic,
environmental, social, and governance topics
with our stakeholders together with our progress,
performance and ambitions for the future.

We have structured the report around topics that
were identified as of significant importance to our
internal and external stakeholders. The report has
been prepared under the framework of UAE's Vision

2021 to create a smart and sustainable city, and the
strategic plans of each emirate and in accordance
with the sustainable development goals (SDGs) set
out by the United Nations for 2030.

This report enables us to identify opportunities
to better measure, monitor, and manage these
sustainability topics across all levels of our
organization. We recognize the role we play in
sustainable development, and endeavor to work
closely with all our stakeholders in enhancing
and integrating sustainability initiatives across
our operations.
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About Air Arabia

Air Arabia (PJSC), listed on the Dubai Financial Market,
is the Middle East and North Africa’s leading low-
cost carrier (LCC) operator. Air Arabia commenced
operations in October 2003 and currently operates
a total fleet of 73 new Airbus A320 and A321
aircraft (end 2023), serving some 200 routes from
seven hubs in the UAE (Abu Dhabi, Sharjah, RAK),
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“To be one of the world’s leading budge
* Profit Margin

* Innovation

* Reputation

* Operational Excellence

i N P §

“To revolutionize air travel in the region through an innovative business approach offering

airlines” in terms of:

superb value for money and a safe, reliable operation” to achieve this,

» We will be known for our low fares
» Grow our business profitably
* Build motivated multi-functional teams

* Demonstrate the highest operational standards

* Manage our costs ruthlessly

Air Arabia operates a modern fleet comprised of
an Airbus A320 family. While the A320neo builds
on the A320 product line's position as the world’s
most advanced and fuel-efficient single-aisle aircraft
family, the A321neo variant provides extended range
for the A320neo family’'s longest fuselage version.

The carrier follows a strong and successful business
model which focuses primarily on efficiency,
optimization and resources.

Air Arabia is not only committed to providing
affordable air travel but is also dedicated to uplifting
the lives of those who are less fortunate. Taking
responsibility and lead on social needs of local
and international communities has been part of our
success.

To that end the carrier has implemented an
award winning corporate social responsibility
(CSR) program for sustainable development with
an emphasis on providing better education and
healthcare for wunderprivileged communities.



Our Approach to ESG

Air Arabia is developing a holistic approach to
sustainability across the seven hubs which lead to
underline why understanding, anticipating, and
effectively managing environmental, social and
governance (ESG) matters is critical to delivering
on our mission to serve our clients, customers, and
communities.

Air Arabia strives to provide clear, transparent
information about how we manage and address the
range of ESG issues we encounter in our business.

Since ESG issues touch nearly every aspect of our
business, day-to-day management of the individual
elements is distributed throughout our operations
and functions. As part of our effort to take a more
integrated approach to ESG management, we have
recently taken steps to enhance our leadership
and coordination of ESG efforts and reconsider
the way these issues are overseen by our Board
of Directors. We provide a wide range of updates
to our shareholders at AGM to reconsider the way
these issues are overseen as well as providing
timely disclosures to relevant investors and lenders,
promptly makes its financials available to all
stakeholders, and is expanding its ESG reporting.

Air Arabia maintains a strong engineering team
looking after MRO needs of the aircraft, which has
become a key part of the airline’s remarkable success
story. This facility and its staff, equipment, stores,
materials, and workshops are all 100% dedicated
to the Airbus A320 family. Air Arabia integrate
sustainable solutions to reduce the carbon footprint

with four focus areas: reducing energy usage in
facilities (offices); reducing business travel impact,
managing e-waste, water conservation, pollution
certificate etc.

Air Arabia’s approach is in full compliance with the
SCA and DFM requirements of issuing reports in
accordance with the GRI Standards and in alignment
with DFM ESG disclosure guidance. ESG matters are
important consideration in how we do business,
including our corporate governance systems
that run at every level in the organization, risk
management and methodology to serve customers
and support for local communities. Our main driver
is sustainability and efficiency embedded in the
culture and management of the airline. Equally
important, we believe that the core items that are
critical of our ESG approach are practiced across
the organization through efficient operations and
environment friendly practices. For Air Arabia, this
means we are leveraging our business and policy
expertise, and presence to help drive an inclusive
recovery, expand, and accelerate sustainability.

As a leader in the aviation, air services and travel
industries, Air Arabia is committed to minimizing
the environmental impact of the operations across
all our businesses and activities. We aim to meet
the needs of our customers while using energy
and resources efficiently, minimizing waste, and
operating our assets in the most environmentally
responsible manner.

Best Practices for Sustainable Solutions

Energy Reduction

Waste Management
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Chapter 2

Respecting the
Environment

Air Arabia is proactive on multiple fronts to minimize
our facilities’ environmental footprint and reduce
natural resource consumption. Thisincludes meeting
and exceeding the requirements of air quality, water
and waste standards, recycling and managing our
energy usage.

Air Arabia uses technological advancements to
improve operations, products, services, and solutions
for the benefit of the society. For many years we have
been working on reducing emissions by using less
fuel as a response to the energy conservation act.
Air Arabia is taking steps to mitigate the emission
of fuel, including progressively transitioning its fleet
with an average age of 4 to 5 years to the newest
and most fuel-efficient aircraft on the market today
and disposing of older, less fuel- efficient aircraft.

Air Arabia recognizes the considerable impact of
its air transportation business on the environment
and is working to reduce that environmental impact
and protect the environment through a range of
measures in all aspects of its business activities.

Air Arabia uses technological
advancements to improve operations,
products, and services for the benefit
of the society

Air Arabia collaborates with different organizations to
advance sustainable development as well as raising
awareness about sustainability among employees by
engaging in activities that has positive socio-economic
impacts and promotes the vision of the company.

Air Arabia is effectively using limited resources
through promoting the 3Rs (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle)
on board by providing inflight bags across the
entire fleet and applying the same in the offices.
We continue to conduct activities such as reducing
printed manuals, recycling beverage cans from
aircraft cabins and offices. We strive to minimize
our direct impacts on the environment while
concurrently enhancing our services and solutions
to help customers to improve their environmental
and carbon performance toward meeting their
sustainability —objectives.
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While the aviation industry is not the highest
contributor to global emissions, it does make a
significant contribution to the global response to
climate change as well as emissions from flights
that stay in the atmosphere and warm it for
several centuries. Because aircraft emissions are
released high in the atmosphere, they have a potent
climate impact, triggering chemical reactions and
atmospheric effects that heat the planet.

Climate change is a pressing global challenge, Air
Arabia recognizes that responding to climate change
is a particularly important issue for the sustainability
of society. That is why we have incorporated climate
change goals in our operations by adopting a policy
of adding only brand-new aircraft that includes both
Airbus 320 and Airbus 321 neo LR to our fleet with
four years average fleet age to avoid unwanted
emissions. While ambition is important, we know that
what matters most is that we have a clear roadmap
- with both a long-term vision and intermediate
milestones - for how we will achieve it.

Efficiencies gained through operational
improvements can make a big difference. At every
step of a plane's operations there are opportunities
to reduce fuel burn and consequently, emissions.

Adopting a fleet strategy that consists of new aircraft
is considered a key component of emission reduction,
if not the most important element. Newer fleets
are more fuel efficient and new aircraft also reduce
maintenance costs which eventually contributes to
less emissions and higher efficiency. We also save
fuel through more efficient procedures and weight
reduction measures. These can range from ensuring
the plane's engines are clean to developing and
using new arrivals procedures. For example, we taxi
to the runway using just one engine instead of two.

Airports, airlines and air navigation service providers
are also working together on so-called ‘green
departures’ where aircraft can take off and climb at a
steady rate to reach the most efficient phase of flight
- the cruise - faster.

Despite their size, aircraft still burn less fuel when
they have less weight on board, so airlines are
finding ways to reduce the weight of a vast array of
items carried - everything from food service trolleys
to seats and carpets, to loading just the right amount
of water for each flight, rather than filling the tanks
each time. This results in significant savings, and we
are considered one of the leading airlines worldwide
in adopting such measures.

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY OPPORTUNITIES

LIGHTWEIGHT
CABIN
EQUIPMENT

RETRO-FITTING
WINGLETS

Carefully tailored techniques, which take advantage
of sophisticated navigation technologies, are also
being developed to determine the most appropriate
flightpaths into airports, specifically those with
difficult runway approaches - either in mountainous

TABLET
COMPUTERS
REPLACING
PILOT
MANUALS

SLIMLINE SEATS
- LOWER WEIGHT

areas or to avoid flying over communities. These
approach techniques can save millions of fuel tonnes
and CO2, as well as reducing the impact of aircraft
noise around airports.



Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF)

Sustainable Aviation Fuel is produced from
sustainable feedstocks and is very similar in its
chemistry to traditional fossil jet fuel, however,
it is one of the most promising solutions when it
comes to lowering aviation's environmental impact
as it helps in reducing carbon emissions compared
to the traditional jet fuel while using cooking oil
and other non-palm waste oils from animals or
plants; solid waste from homes and businesses,
such as packaging, paper, textiles, and food scraps
that would otherwise go to landfill or incineration.
Other potential sources include forestry waste, such
as waste wood, and energy crops, including fast
growing plants.

Nowadays, airlines still face some key challenges
to incorporate SAF in their operations. These
challenges can be categorized in the cost, availability,
and technology.

SAF is currently more costly than traditional fossil jet
fuel due to the non-availability of current sustainable
feedstocks and the ability to develop new production
technologies. As technology matures it will become
more efficient and so the expectation is that it will
become less costly for airlines.

Air Arabiaremains committed to ambitious emissions
reduction goals and SAF has been identified as
one of the key elements in helping achieve these
goals. While wide-scale adoption and production of
SAF at reasonable prices will require wide ranging
cooperation and alignment of interests reach global
net zero goals there needs to be aggressive and
immediate action from many parties, including
airlines, aircraft technology = manufacturers,
government, and the finance community to
overcome the cost and supply challenges long
plaguing the SAF market.

More and more governments are making bolder
pledges with respect to the decarbonization
of the aviation sector. Likewise, private sector
aviation industry participants are continuing to
set aggressive goals for themselves. Air Arabia
continues to adopt the latest technology and
techniques for fuel efficiency, while keep watching
the development of SAF as it becomes a solution to
consider as a fuel alternative.
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Key Environmental Factors

According to the U.N. Environment Program,
environmental sustainability involves making life
choices that ensure an equal, if not better, way of life

At Air Arabia Group we continuously adoptinnovation
and technology to minimize the environmental
impact of our operations across all business and

activities. We aim to meet the needs of our customers
while using energy and resources efficiently,
minimizing waste, and operating our assets in the
most environmentally responsible manner.

for future generations.

Environmental sustainability aims to improve the
quality of human life without putting unnecessary
strain on the earths supporting ecosystems.

CIEANWATER
ANDSANITATION
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POVERTY AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION
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'I PARTNERSHIPS
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Carbon Emissions and Climate change

« Maintaining a young, fuel-efficient fleet

« Implementing fuel-saving operational techniques
+ Optimizing ground transportation planning
Noise and Local Air Quality

« Operating a young, technologically-advances aircraft fleet
+ Incorporating technology and innovation to reduce aircraft noise and emission.
+ Developing operational procedure for the overall air quality

Materials and Waste

+ Recycling from offices, operational facilities, and staff accommodation

« Comprehensive waste management processes and compliance to regulations
+ Designing solutions to reduce plastic use and other waste from inflight service
Electricity and Water

+ Installing equipment to increase energy and water efficiency in buildings
+ Using new techniques to clean aircraft with less water.
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Waste Management and Recycling

Solid waste management and disposal is one of
the most significant issues in the environmental
management of the airline industry. The
economically sound and environmentally acceptable
disposal of municipal solid waste is a major concern
in many industrialized countries.

In 2015 Air Arabia has signed an MOU with Bee'ah -
the leading environmental management

company in Sharjah. The MoU will have Air Arabia
and Bee'ah collaborate and share knowledge
and expertise in several key areas relating to
both commercial activities and corporate social
responsibility (CSR) projects.

As part of its dedication to the environment,
Air Arabia works with Beerah to enhance its
green credentials, augmenting its programme of
recycling and waste disposal. It is anticipated that
the MoU will encourage sustainable environmental
practices to help engender a more prosperous and
greener Sharjah.

Bee'ah supplied the recyclables collection containers
such us Desk-side blue recycling bins to be placed
at Air Arabia Head offices to develop and promote
green offices and to encourage people to become
more environmentally friendly and to promote
recycling: paper, newspapers, cardboard, bottles,
cans, plastic, and all other garbage. Additionally,
all industrial waste generated by Air Arabia's
maintenance hangar is collected and recycled in
Bee'ah's world class waste management facility.

As part of the MOU, Bee'ah has endorsed a Recycle
awareness campaign to promote the Reduce, Reuse
and Recycle making sure to receive all recyclables
and handle materials according to the environmental
regulation and standards.

T e gl o L 39
‘mneguce
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Moreover, installing the reverse vending machine
(RVM) in Air Arabia’s head office, which is a device
that takes empty and used bottles or cans, then
returns money or other forms of incentivization
to the recycler, depending on the quantity of
receptacles recycled.

As a further collaboration towards a greener
environment, to date, Air Arabia has recycled an
estimated 17,000 kilograms of old crew uniforms
through environmentally friendly means. In addition
to the old uniform, Air Arabia implements a thorough
recycling scheme for items used in its aircraft and
during flights, including cardboard, paper, paper
trays and cooking oil - all of which are recycled by
Bee'ah. Every month, on average Air Arabia recycles
6000 kilograms of materials.

Air Arabia’s sustainability initiatives are not just about
recycling. The staff restaurant uses cutlery, plates
and cups which are made from reusable materials.

17,000 kg of old uniform/
600 kg of materials

600 kg Materials
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Indoor Air Quality

Itisachallengeto provide aqualityindoorenvironment
at a reasonable energy cost. Current efforts to
improve building energy efficiency, including goals of
sustainability and net-zero energy use, are bringing
more focus on how to simultaneously achieve energy
efficiency and good indoor air quality (IAQ). While
energy efficiency and IAQ are sometimes viewed as
incompatible, there are many strategies that support
both ends.

Air Arabia focuses on the quality of indoor air as it is
initial to health and wellbeing through incorporating
the environmental guidelines and operating

Alrhrabla

platforms in the design of the aircraft in the early
stages. Our fleet is equipped with high-protection
HEPA filters that efficiently remove 99.99% of
viruses and bacteria in the air. Air Arabia combines
all new developments with standards and energy
efficiencies that meet best in class practices and
consider filtration, relative humidity, fresh air, and
temperature control to ensure consistently high
levels of air quality.
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Chapter 3
Growing an

Inclusive
Workforce

Social sustainability is about identifying and
managing business impacts, both positive and
negative, on people. The quality of a company's
relationships and engagement with its stakeholders
is critical. Directly or indirectly, companies affect
what happens to employees, workers in the value
chain, customers, and local communities, and it is

Our approach aims to strengthen
our corporate culture and employee

pride in working for a socially

responsible organization, while bringing
real community benefit

important to manage impacts proactively. There is
also a need for more diverse representation within
the workforce to enable different perspectives that
can propel innovation. Air Arabia focuses on growing
an inclusive and diverse workforce and contributing
to a broader awareness of the benefits
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Ethics and Human Rights

Ethics and integrity are considerable components of
entrepreneurial practice at Air Arabia. It is a matter
of fact for the Group to adhere to current laws and
voluntary commitments, and to consciously respect
ethical principles. An important consideration is that
business conduct characterized by integrity is a key
prerequisite for the Company's long-term success.

Air Arabia has focused on many corporate social
responsibility projects and initiatives around the
world as part of its dedication towards the community
and the environment. The main objective of these
projects and initiatives is to improve the quality of
life for children, provide healthcare for elderly and
raise funds to support communities.

“Charity Cloud” was implemented in 2007, as part
of Air Arabia’s CSR program, in collaboration with

the Sharjah Charity International, to support
economic  development of underprivileged
communities around the world. “Charity Cloud” is
built on donations from passengers on-board and
employees. The money raised from this charity
is re-invested in educational and medical care
establishments in different countries around the
globe.AirArabiaalsohasasportsponsoring program
and a partnership with “Sharjah Humanitarian City”
to help underprivileged communities.

Additionally, Air Arabia partnered with the
Sharjah Humanitarian City (SHC) to help people of
determination who are flying with the airline and to
assist them at airports.
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Air Arabia depends on the dedication of our talented
team members, who are committed to providing
best-in-class service and reliability for our customers.
Our culture is defined by our core values, which
impact how we interact with each other, our users,
our communities, and other stakeholders every day.

For an organization that is home to 90 different
nationalities working together, Air Arabia is keen
to provide a workplace that is inspiring, motivating,
and above all, respectful. Across all our buildings,
we incorporate high ceilings, natural light, and good
ventilation to support the comfort and health of our
users and employees.

Another aspect of team building is the continuous
learning and motivation of the employees by
understanding what motivates employees,
identifying opportunities to improve processes and
systems. Continual education and training are seen
asalarge part of Air Arabia’'s employees’ development
and growth through our dedicated Learning and
Development (L&D) department as well as our
training schools. We offer a variety of opportunities
for team members to continue to develop their skills
and remain up to date with industry trends.

3.2.1. Management Approach

Air Arabia continues to invest in its human resources
as it believes they are the fundamental factors of
success, and excellence, and to keep up with rapid
changes to maintain the airline’s leadership. Air
Arabia fosters and supports behavior that drives
employees to bring innovation and excellence into
their work which contributes to sustainable growth
for the long-term development by ensuring that all
employees are given the same opportunities without
discrimination based on sex, race, nationality, age or
creed, in line with the policies and regulations of the
UAE government. Air Arabia recognizes the value of
its employees, and provides every resource available
for employee development, including training to
supportengagementon all levels. Air Arabia opposes
all forms of illegal and unfair preference among

employee and is committed to making all decisions
regarding recruitment, evaluation, promotion,
training, work assignments, or any functional
advantage based on competence and capacity in
view of the laws and regulations of the UAE.

3.2.2. Gender Diversity and Equal Opportunities

Air Arabia values the individual differences and
diversity of its employees and works to ensure that
the work environment is safe, fair, and equitable, so
that employee needs are met, and that a culture of
diversity and non-exclusion is maintained. Air Arabia
opposes all forms of illegal and unfair employee
preference and is committed to making all decisions
regarding recruitment, evaluation, promotion,
training, work assignments, or any functional
advantage on the basis of competence and capacity
in accordance with UAE laws and regulations.

3.2.3. Retention Program

Air Arabia offers a wide spectrum of incentives to
our employees, from a well-honed career path to
promotions and bonuses, and performance-based
pay. In addition to these incentives, we provide a
challenging environment to stimulate growth. Our
successful retention policy led to a low employee
turnover ratio.

3.2.4 Emiratization Program

In accordance with the UAE Government's plans
to attract local Emirati talents, Air Arabia pursues
initiatives aimed at attracting Emiratis such as
utilizing relations with universities and colleges to
attract local talents and engaging in career fairs.
Air Arabia also provides the opportunities for young
local talents to join the airline as on-job training
within the department of choice such as engineering
and maintenance department and the hangar.



Community Engagement

At Air Arabia, our purpose is to advocate people
on life's journey - a mission that revolutionize air
travel in the region through an innovative business
approach offering superb value for money and a
safe, reliable operation

Community engagement is important and can lead
togreatoutcomes, Air Arabiabelievesinresponsibility
towards team members and users, who, in turn,
share their aspirations, concerns and values.

We achieve community engagement through
various initiatives across multiple countries. Such
initiatives are driven by staff and include employees
from different departments and positions within
the organization. An example to such community
initiatives is when Air Arabia collaborated with
Sharjah Social Empowerment; a foundation that
helps renovate the homes of those who are in need.

A team of 14 Air Arabia employees helped renovate
the house of a widow and her 3 children in Sharjah.
The employees joined hands with social workers
and on-site professionals to take the project forward
and complete the task. Another initiative involved a
trip to Bangalore in India and included employees
who visit 2 orphanages and a home for the elderly.
Air Arabia staff visited the sites during which clothes,
dates and basic necessities, from food to soap,
were distributed. Another initiative took place in
Egypt where to young Egyptian children, Mahmoud
and Jana, who are patients at the 57357 Children's
Cancer Hospital in Egypt, have realized their dreams
of taking to the skies, thanks to an initiative by Air
Arabia staff. Air Arabia staff are involved in tens of
initiatives every year and so far, have covered over
15 countries since the start.
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Chapter 4
Promoting

Responsible
Business
Conduct

Air Arabia has been one of the leading companies
in applying the principles of corporate governance
among the public companies. Air Arabia strongly
believesin theimportance of the practical application
of governance practices and the strong adherence
to the related laws & regulations and the operations
within the general framework of the principles of
corporate governance which preserves the rights
and interests of the company, its investors, its
management, and the investment environment
surrounding it.

Therefore, Air Arabia, and all its subsidiaries and
group companies are committed to all laws and
regulations imposed upon them as a global aviation
and as a public joint stock company. This covers

Our company is built on trust,
which means everything we do and
all decisions we make are governed
by the principles of ethics, integrity,
and respect for people and our planet.
Our approach involves working within
our company through health, safety,
diversity, and promoting societal benefit
through community investment

Commercial Companies Law number 2 of 2015 and
law number 26 of 2020 pertaining to commercial
companies. The company is also committed to the
strict application of Ministerial Decree No. (518) for
the year 2009 followed by the resolution number 7
for the year 2016, and resolution number 3 of 2020
issued by the Minister of Economy and Chairman of
the Securities and Commaodities Authority regarding
corporate governance and corporate discipline,
and any decisions that may be issued or amended
in future. This cultivates confidence of those major
investment bodies around the globe to occupy a
position within the owners of Air Arabia.
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Air Arabia has a strong, independent Board of
Directors, composed of experienced members who
are diverse with respect to background, skills, and
experiences. The Board is committed to sound
corporate governance in line with evolving best
practices. The Board of Directors understand and
appreciate the importance of ESG matters as well as
their significance to our various stakeholders.

The Board includes several directors with skills and
experience relevant to these topics and continues
to gain knowledge about these evolving areas
through, among other things, reqular briefings, and
discussions with internal subject matter experts. In
addition to that, the Board discusses risk throughout
the year, particularly when reviewing operating
and strategic plans and when considering specific
actions for approval.

Air Arabia’s board of directors consists of 7 members which were appointed by the
Annual General Meeting (AGM) of 2020 for three years:

1.1 Sheikh Abdullah Bin Mohammed Al Thani - Chairman of the Board

1.2 Adel Abdullah Al Ali - Executive member

1.3 Sheikh Mohammed Bin Abdullah Al Thani - Independent member

1.4 Sheikh Khalid Bin Issam Al Qassimi - Independent member

1.5 Waleed Ibrahim Al Sayegh - Independent member

1.6 Matar Al Blooshi - Independent member

1.7 Dr. Ohoud Shuhail - Independent member

The members of the Board are chosen after a
thorough and proper evaluation process. The
members are qualified and experienced in
engineering, technology, accounting and finance,
administration, management, and business. They
all have extensive experience as members of boards
of organizations and companies. They oversee the
organization and its operations. Air Arabia operates

based on the proclamation and resolution of conflicts
of interests, clear related party disclosures and its
established Code of Conduct. The Board meets more
frequently as needed, where they receive updates
directly about the operations. The Board is updated
on Air Arabia’s main and strategic projects, including
but not limited to, its financial and sustainability
performance.



Board Code of Conduct

The Board code of conduct covers all individuals
working for Air Arabia at all levels and grades
including directors, senior managers, members
of the Senior Management Group, employees
(including permanent, temporary, and part-time
employees), trainees, home workers, agency staff
and contractors (collectively referred to as employees
in this Code).

Air Arabia’s code of ethics includes the following:
a) Conflicts of interest

b) Protection of confidential information and
other assets

¢) Disclosure and compliance with Listing Rules

d) Compliance with laws, rules, and
regulatory regimes

e) Reporting
f) Money laundering and terrorist financing
g) Competition and fair dealing

h) Interaction with media shareholders
i) Personal Conduct

Air Arabia's Code of Conduct forms the platform
for our efforts to ensure high standards of ethics
and human rights within the Group. The Code
summarizes our key policies and is a guide for
employees on how to conduct themselves in line
with the principles of ethics, integrity, and respect.
It covers areas such as respect for people, anti-
corruption, nondiscrimination, conflicts of interest,
fraud, privacy of information, health, safety and
respect for the environment, and constitutes the
basis of our Ethics program. It also helps define our
expectations throughout the value chain.

Air Arabia is fully committed to the highest standards
of ethical conduct in running its business and in the
personal behavior of its employees, members of
the Senior Management Group and members of
the board of directors and has issued this Code to
provide guidance for you, as an employee to uphold
these standards.

* Employee Engagement survey

Air Arabia evaluates the engagement of its employees
through engagement surveys. The surveys include
metrics on important aspects of the companyss
efforts to act ethically, lead in diversity and respect
human rights, including the understanding of our
Code of Conduct, trust in the Ethics Helpline and
equal opportunities. The employee engagement
survey will be conducted annually with the aim of
providing the management with good input on how
to optimize the organization further. Our ambition is
to become an employer of choice and to be one of
the great companies to work for. We have received
the results of the employee engagement survey,
which are specific and detailed by department.
During 2020 and 2021, Group functions, business
areas and local business units conducted multiple
employee surveys for their respective parts of the
organization, on topics such as wellbeing, diversity
and inclusion, and general engagement.

* Employee wellbeing

Air Arabia's approach to wellbeing is founded on
the commitment to employee wellbeing in the
Group People Policy, and is based on the work
environment, office culture, and teamwork. Group
level campaigns are organized on each of the
aspects within the group.

* Health and safety

Health and safety have long been a fundamental
part of our values and our sustainability agenda,
with clear targets and processes in place to ensure
real progress.

Key priorities and progress are that employees are
covered by a reporting system (Integrated Quality
and Safety Management System - IQSMS) to track
incidents and hours worked and apply. All employees
receive an induction program and safety training
when they start at the airline in addition to annual
training tailored to their function.
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Corporate Governance Policies

Air Arabia is dedicated to keeping its shareholders
fully informed of developments and valuable
information affecting the company. Air Arabia
endeavors to ensure that all shareholders have
access to information about the company’s business
and that they have the opportunity to meet and
hold positive discussions with the board of directors
during the Company’'s General Assembly.

At present, Air Arabia uses the following channels
to provide its shareholders with information about
the company:

3.1. In the agenda, explanatory notes and the
directors and auditors' financial statements reports
accompany the notice of the company’'s Annual
General Assembly.

3.2. At the Annual General Assembly where the
shareholders can direct questions to the Chief
Executive Officer, to the Chairman of the board of
directors and to the external auditors about anything
concerning the Company's business.

3.3. In disclosures made to the Dubai Financial
Market and the Emirates Securities and Commodities
Authority.
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3.4.At the "Investor Relations” section on Air Arabia’s
website www.airarabia.com which contains the
following information:

* Quarterly financial statements

+ Studies and reviews on Air Arabia

+ Updated information about the board of directors
* Press releases

+ The governance report and information about
corporate governance in general

+ Information regarding the last Annual General
Assembly.

+ In at least 3 to 4 road shows and conferences
locally and internationally to advise the public on
its last update.

* The Annual report is published in both hard copy
and soft copy which is available online for the
public.

*+ At the end of every quarter via a conference call
with Air Arabia investors which is attended by the
Chief Executive Officer and Director of Finance.
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